Doctor's Thesis

Improvement of organic solvent tolerance in *Escherichia coli* by gene mutations

Rei Watanabe 4R10110003

Doctor Course Bio-Nano Science Fusion Course Graduate School of Interdisciplinary New Science Toyo University, Japan

Academic Year's 2013

Preface

Our daily lives depend on petroleum products. The petroleum-based organic solvents are extensively used as raw materials and solvents for organic synthesis in the manufacture of various chemicals. Organic solvents can be toxic to organisms. Environments polluted with petroleum or synthetic organic solvents represent one definition of extreme environments for many organisms. However, some bacteria can grow in these extreme conditions containing high concentrations of highly toxic organic solvents such as toluene and xylene. Organic solvent tolerant bacteria are a relatively novel group of extremophilic microorganisms. These bacteria are being explored for their potential in industrial and environmental biotechnology. Organic solvent tolerant bacteria can be used as efficient biocatalysts in an aqueous and organic solvent two phase system. The use of two phase systems provides numerous attractive advantages in the bioconversion of organic compounds by whole-cell biocatalysts. The advantages of two-phase systems include not only the production of useful compounds from hydrophobic substrate, but also the maintenance of a low concentration of toxic or inhibitory compounds in the aqueous phase and an easier recovery of both product and biocatalyst. Although the catalytic efficiency of whole-cell biocatalysts in two-phase systems is often lowered due to the toxicity of organic solvents toward the cells, the use of organic solvent tolerant bacteria will expand the usability of these biocatalysts in an aqueous-organic solvent two phase system. The biochemical and genetic properties of the cell structures of Escherichia coli are well understood. This knowledge is useful

Ι

in understanding the organic solvent tolerance mechanisms. The organic solvent tolerance level of *E. coli* is relatively high among various microorganisms. In *E. coli*, the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump (bacterial nano pump) have been shown to provide intrinsic tolerance to organic solvents. This nano pump reduces the intracellular solvent concentration in *E. coli* cells exposed to organic solvents. However, the correlation between expression of this pump and organic solvent tolerance in *E. coli* was not yet fully understood.

In this dissertation entitled "Improvement of organic solvent tolerance in *Escherichia coli* by gene mutations" constitutes of four chapters and focuses on the correlation between expression of AcrAB-TolC efflux pump and organic solvent tolerance in *E. coli*. This study suggests a new strategy for increasing the organic solvent tolerance level in *E. coli* to improve the usability of the whole-cell biocatalysts in two-phase systems employing organic solvents.

Chapter 1 explains categories of organic solvent tolerant microorganisms in a wide variety of extremophiles, discovery of organic solvent tolerant bacteria, correlation between the organic solvent toxicity and its log P_{OW} value, organic solvent tolerance mechanisms of various microorganisms, and organic solvent tolerance of *E. coli*. Several solvent tolerant bacteria and their tolerant mechanisms have been reported so far. This chapter describes that knowledge. Especially, organic solvent tolerance mechanism in *E. coli* is described in detail.

Chapter 2 explains "Contributions of mutations in *acrR* and *marR* genes

Π

to organic solvent tolerance in *Escherichia coli*". The AcrAB-TolC efflux pump plays a crucial role of maintaining inherent organic solvent tolerance in *E. coli*. Mutations in regulatory genes such as *marR*, *soxR*, and *acrR* are known to increase the expression level of the AcrAB-TolC pump. In this study, cyclohexane-tolerant *E. coli* JA300 mutants were isolated and examined by DNA sequencing for mutations in *marR*, *soxR*, and *acrR* to identify these mutations. Among 8 mutants tested, strain CH7 carried a nonsense mutation in *marR* (named *marR109*) and an insertion of IS5 in *acrR*. This strain exhibited the highest organic solvent tolerance levels. These mutations were introduced into the *E. coli* JA300 chromosome by a site-directed mutagenesis method to clarify the involvement of these mutations in improving organic solvent tolerance. As the result, three JA300 mutants carrying *acrR*:IS5, *marR109*, or both were constructed. The organic solvent tolerance levels of these three mutants were increased in the following order:

JA300 < JA300 *acrR* mutant< JA300 *marR* mutant< JA300 both *acrR* and *marR mutant*. JA300 both *acrR* and *marR mutant* formed colonies on an agar plate overlaid with cyclohexane and *p*-xylene mixture. The organic solvent-tolerance level and AcrAB-TolC efflux pump-expression level in JA300 both *acrR* and *marR mutant* were similar to those in parent strain CH7. Thus, it was shown that the synergistic effects of mutations in only two regulatory genes, *acrR* and *marR*, can significantly increase organic solvent tolerance in *E. coli*.

Chapter 3 explains "Improvement of organic solvent tolerance by

III

disruption of the *lon* gene in *Escherichia coli*". The Lon ATP-dependent protease contributes to protein quality control and cellular homeostasis by eliminating abnormal proteins and participating in rapid turnover of several regulatory proteins. We examined the organic solvent tolerance of a *lon* mutant of *E. coli* K-12 and found that the mutant showed significantly higher organic solvent tolerance than the parent strain. Δlon mutants are known to overproduce capsular polysaccharide, resulting in the formation of mucoid colonies. We considered that this increase in capsular polysaccharide production might be involved in the organic solvent tolerance in *E. coli*. However, a $\[\] lon \[\] wcaJ double-gene mutant displaying a nonmucoid \]$ result suggests that capsular polysaccharide is not involved in organic solvent tolerance. Hence, the Lon protease is known to exhibit proteolytic activity against the transcriptional activators MarA and SoxS. These regulatory proteins can enhance the expression level of the AcrAB-TolC level of AcrB than the parent strain. In addition, the $\[these lon \[these \[these lon \[these \[these lon \[these \$ double-gene mutant showed a significant decrease in organic solvent tolerance. Therefore, organic solvent tolerance in the $\bigtriangleup lon$ mutant was shown to depend on the AcrAB-TolC pump but not capsular polysaccharide. E. coli strain JA300 acrRIS marR overexpresses the AcrAB-TolC pump and exhibits high-level solvent tolerance. In an attempt to further improve the solvent tolerance of JA300 acrRIS marR, a lon gene disruptant of this strain was constructed. However, the resulting mutant JA300 acrRIS marR *lon*

showed lower solvent tolerance than JA300 acrRIS marR.

Finally, chapter 4 is referred to the generalization of this dissertation, and a future perspective on the study is described.

Contents

Chapter 1

Introduction

- 1-1 Extremophile ··· 1
- 1-2 Discovery of organic solvent tolerant bacteria … 4
- 1-3 Correlation between the organic solvent toxicity and its log P_{OW} value \cdots 6
- 1-4 Organic solvent tolerance mechanisms ... 11
- 1-4-1 Changes in the cell membrane … 11
- 1-4-2 Heat stress response … 14
- 1-4-3 Oxidative stress response … 15
- 1-4-4 Efflux pumps ··· 15
- 1-4-5 Organic solvent tolerance in *Escherichia coli* ... 16
- 1-4-5-1 Energy-dependent efflux systems 20
- 1-4-5-2 Regulators for the expression of AcrAB-TolC efflux pump ... 22
- 1-4-5-3 Maintenance of the proton motive force ... 23
- 1-4-5-4 Lipopolysaccharides ... 25
- 1-4-5-5 Carbon catabolism ···· 26
- 1-4-5-6 Alkylhydroperoxide reductase ···· 29
- 1-4-5-7 Other mechanisms of organic solvent tolerance

in *E. coli* ... 29

- 1-5 Applications of organic solvent tolerant bacteria in
 an aqueous-organic solvent two-phase bioconversion system … 31
- 1-5-1 Steroid bioconversion in the two-phase system 33

1-5-2 Bioproduction of textile dye in the two-phase system ··· 37

- 1-5-3 3-Methylcatechol production from toluene in the two-phase system … 38
- 1-5-4 Phenol bioproduction from glucose in the two-phase system … 39
- 1-6 Bioremediation ··· 40
- 1-7 Application of efflux pump in nano device ... 41
- 1-8 References ··· 42

Chapter 2

Contributions of mutations in acrR and marR genes to organic solvent tolerance in *Escherichia coli*

- 2-1 Abstract ... 58
- 2-2 Introduction ··· 59
- 2-3 Materials and methods ... 61
- 2-3-1 Materials, media, and culture conditions ... 61
- 2-3-2 Bacterial strains and plasmids ... 62
- 2-3-3 Isolation of cyclohexane-tolerant mutants of *E. coli* JA300 ··· 64
- 2-3-4 PCR amplification and DNA sequencing of *acrR*, *marR*, and *soxR* ··· 64
- 2-3-5 Site-directed point mutations in *E. coli* chromosome ··· 66
- 2-3-6 Disruption of *acrA* in strain JA300 and JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* ··· 67

- 2-3-7 Measurement of the organic solvent tolerance of E. coli ... 68
- 2-3-8 Quantitation of organic solvent accumulation in *E. coli* cells ... 68
- 2-3-9 Protein content ··· 69
- 2-3-10 Antibodies against AcrA, AcrB, and TolC ... 69
- 2-3-11 Immunoblotting analyses ··· 70
- 2-3-12 Antibiotic susceptibility ... 71
- 2-4 Results and discussion ... 71
- 2-4-1 Isolation of cyclohexane-tolerant mutants of *E. coli* JA300 ... 71
- 2-4-2 Organic solvent tolerances of the isolated mutants 72
- 2-4-3 Identification of mutations in *acrR*, *marR*, and *soxR* \cdots 74
- 2-4-4 Organic solvent tolerances of mutants carrying mutations in *marR* and/or *acrR* derived from strain CH7 ... 78
- 2-4-5 AcrA, AcrB, and TolC levels in organic solvent tolerant mutants ... 82
- 2-4-6 Organic solvent tolerance of *acrA*-disruptant ... 84
- 2-4-7 Accumulation of an organic solvent in *E. coli* incubated in a two-phase culture system … 86
- 2-4-8 Antibiotic tolerances of organic solvent tolerant mutants 88
- 2-5 Conclusions ··· 91
- 2-6 References ··· 95

Chapter 3

Improvement of organic solvent tolerance by disruption of the *lon* gene in *Escherichia coli*

- 3-1 Abstract …102
- 3-2 Introduction …103
- 3-3 Materials and methods ...109
- 3-3-1 Media, culture conditions and materials ...109
- 3-3-2 Bacterial strains and plasmids ...109
- 3-3-3 Disruption of *lon*, *acrB*, and *wcaJ* in *E. coli* strains …111
- 3-3-4 Measurement of organic solvent tolerance of *E. coli* ...112
- 3-3-5 Antibodies against AcrB …114
- 3-3-6 Immunoblotting analysis …114
- 3-3-7 Protein content …115
- 3-3-8 Antibiotic susceptibility ...115
- 3-4 Results and discussion ...115
- 3-4-1 Organic solvent tolerances of strain BW25113 and its gene-knockout mutants …115
- 3-4-2 Growth of the ∠*lon* mutant in liquid medium in the presence of organic solvents …119
- 3-4-3 Organic solvent tolerances of strain JA300 acrRIS marR and its ∠lon mutant …121
- 3-4-4 AcrB levels in *E. coli* \triangle lon mutants \cdots 123
- 3-4-5 Antibiotic susceptibilities of the $\triangle lon$ mutants $\cdots 125$
- 3-5 Conclusion …127

3-6 References …130

Chapter 4

Conclusion and future perspective137

 $Acknowledgment \ \cdots \ i$

Publications ... ii

Conferences …iii

Chapter 1

Introduction

1-1 Extremophile

Extremophiles are organisms that are adapted to grow optimally under conditions that are hostile to man. By contrast, organisms living in more moderate environments are termed mesophiles. Extremophiles are found in various environmental niches different from mesophilic conditions. These environmental niches including hot springs, cold arctic water, alkaline and acidic water, saturated salt brines, and pressurized abyssal waters, had originally been considered to be too extreme to support microbial life at all. Depending on their optimal growth conditions, some extremophiles are categorized as follows, and their correlation is pictorially summarized in Fig. 1-1. Some organisms adapted to more than two extreme conditions (Fig. 1-1).

Acidophile: an organism with optimal growth at pH levels of 3 or below Alkaliphile: an organism with optimal growth at pH levels of 9 or above Endolith: an organism that lives in microscopic spaces within rocks Halophile: an organism requiring at least 1 M concentrations of salt for growth Hyperthermophile: an organism having a growth temperature optimum of more than 80°C

Thermophile: an organism that can thrive at temperatures between 60– 85 °C

Hypolith: an organism that lives underneath rocks in cold deserts

Metallotolerant: an organism capable of tolerating high levels of dissolved heavy metals

Oligotroph: an organism capable of growth in nutritionally limited environments

Piezophile: an organism that lives optimally at high hydrostatic pressure Psychrophile/Cryophile: an organism having a growth temperature optimum of 10°C or lower, and a maximum temperature of 20°C Radioresistant: an organism resistant to high level of ionizing radiation

Xerophile: an organism that can grow in extremely dry, desiccating conditions

Organic solvent tolerant: an organism capable of growth in the presence of highly toxic organic solvents such as benzene, toluene, and xylene.

Some organic solvents, as pollutants originating from human activities, also create extreme environmental conditions, and organic solvent tolerant microorganisms are capable of tolerating such environments, and are relatively newly recognized as a subgroup of the extremophiles (43, 55, 82).

 $\mathbf{2}$



Fig. 1-1 Extremophiles

Extremophiles can grow in various extreme environments. Some of them adapted to multi extreme environments.

1-2 Discovery of organic solvent tolerant bacteria

Organic solvents are widely used to dissolve and disperse a variety of hydrophobic organic compounds such as fats, oils, waxes, and pigments. They are frequently used in the industrial manufacture of various chemicals and the laboratory processes.

Some organic solvents are known to be extremely toxic to organisms even at very low concentrations. Ecological systems are often damaged by pollution with crude oil due to an accidental marine disaster. Hydrophobic organic solvents accumulate in and disrupt the cell membrane because they can bind to the cell membrane, thereby affecting its integrity. Disruption of membrane functions implies loss of the permeability barrier and the energy transducer, and this thereby leads to growth inhibition and cell death (39, 91). Because of their toxicity, organic solvents have been used as permeabilization agents, disinfectants, food preservatives, and industrial solvents (21, 45). There are some microorganisms which can assimilate these toxic organic solvents. However, they assimilate these solvents only when the solvent concentration is very low. Any medium containing large volumes of toxic organic solvents seems to be an extreme condition for many microorganisms, and therefore for many years it was believed that no microorganism could thrive in such a harmful environment (42, 83). However, organic solvent tolerant bacteria capable of growing in the presence of these toxic solvents have been reported (42, 109).

An organic-solvent tolerant bacterium was reported by Inoue and Horikoshi for the first time. They discovered a toluene tolerant bacterium,

Pseudomonas putida IH-2000. This strain was able to grow in a two phase system containing 50% (v/v) toluene, although this bacterium was not able to use this aromatic as a carbon source (42). This report was followed by three independent studies that described the isolation of three different *P. putida* strains that tolerated related organic solvents, *e.g.* styrene (30), xylenes (20), and toluene (44). These solvent tolerant *Pseudomonas* strains opens new avenues of research into cellular metabolism (46).

Many of these solvent tolerant bacterial species were Gram-negative bacteria including *Pseudomonas* spp. (67, 71). Therefore, it has been assumed that Gram-negative bacteria are more tolerant to organic solvents than Gram-positive bacteria. However, Gram-positive bacteria such as Bacillus (43, 64, 91) and Rhodococcus (77) have also been found to exhibit organic solvent tolerance, although the mechanisms of their organic solvent tolerance are not yet fully understood. Several investigators have also been able to isolate solvent tolerant strains from solvent sensitive bacteria, suggesting that bacteria can adapt at least somewhat to the presence of organic solvents (30). A number of attempts have been made to produce valuable compounds through the bioconversion of hydrophobic organic compounds in two-phase systems consisting of an organic solvent and an aqueous medium. Organic solvent tolerant microorganisms are beneficial for process development to increase the productivity of the bioconversion in an aqueous-organic solvent two-phase system. Thus, organic solvent tolerant bacteria are being explored for their potential in industrial and environmental biotechnology (90).

 $\mathbf{5}$

1-3 Correlation between the organic solvent toxicity and its $\log P_{OW}$ value

Toxicity of organic solvents against microorganisms differs depending on the kind of organic solvents (Table 1-1). Organic solvents include a wide variety of compounds with different chemical structures, such as benzene rings and aliphatic alcohols; many of these compounds are toxic to microorganisms, plants, animals and humans. Some organic solvents hardly suppress growth of bacteria. On the other hand, benzene and toluene are highly toxic to bacteria. An evaluation method to measure the toxicity of an organic solvent in two phase systems was established by Inoue and Horikoshi for the first time. They proposed an empirical rule concerning the toxicity on the basis of colony development by various microorganisms on an agar medium. Colony development was most correlated with the Pow value among several physiochemical parameters of the organic solvents. The $P_{\rm OW}$ value is the common logarithm of *P*_{OW} that is a partition coefficient of the organic solvent between *n*-octanol and water. The Pow value is an index of polarity and an indicator of the toxicity of the solvent (56) (Fig. 1-2). Organic solvents with lower log *P*_{OW} values are more toxic to microorganisms than are solvents with relatively higher log $P_{\rm OW}$ values. The lowest log $P_{\rm OW}$ in which a strain will grow is known as the index value for that strain, and the solvent with that $\log P_{\rm OW}$ is known as the index solvent (19). It is generally accepted that solvents with log $P_{\rm OW}$ values below 5 such as benzene (log $P_{\rm OW}$ 2.0), styrene (log P_{OW} 3.6), xylene (log P_{OW} 3.2), and toluene (log P_{OW} 2.5) are considered to be extremely toxic because of their high degree of partition into the aqueous medium layer surrounding the cells, and thus into the cell

membrane (41). The accumulation of these solvents in the cytoplasmic membrane of bacteria causes disorganization of the cell membrane structure and impairment of the vital membrane functions (Fig. 1-3) (97, 98). Organic solvents dissolved into biological membranes appear to disrupt their structure, which results in a loss of ions, metabolites, changes the intracellular pH and membrane electrical potential, and finally leads to cell death (45, 96). Nevertheless, as described above, several *Pseudomonas* species have been isolated that are able to grow on a medium in the presence of high concentrations of toxic organic solvents, such as toluene, styrene and p-xylene (3, 20, 42, 44, 104).

Solvent	$\log P_{\rm OW}$	Pseudomonas putida IH-2000	Pseudomonas putida Px51T	Pseudomonas putida IFO3738	Pseudomonas fluorescens IFO3507	Escherichia coli K-12 JA300	Bacillus subtilis AHU-1219	Saccharomyces uvaram ATCC26602
<i>n</i> -Dodecan	7.0		+	+	+	+	+	+
<i>n</i> -Decane	6.0	+	+	+	+	+	+	-
n-Octane	4.9	+	+	+	+	+	+	—
Diphenyl ether	4.2	+	+	+	+	+	_	_
<i>n</i> -Hexane	3.8	+	+	+	+	+	-	_
Cyclohexane	3.4	+	+	+	+		_	_
<i>p</i> -Xylene	9.1		I	1	<u></u>			<u> </u>
	ð.1	+	T		23 <u>- 1</u> 47			
Toluene	5.1 2.6	+	+ +	т —		_	_	_

Table 1-1 Organic solvent tolerance of several microorganisms^a

Results cited from Inoue and Horikoshi

^aA cell suspention was spread on an LBGMg agar. An agar surface was overlaid with appropriate organic solvent.

+ indicated that each strain grew in the presence of the organic solvent.

- indicated that each strain didn't grow in the presence of the organic solvent.



Fig. 1-2 Correlation between toxicity and polarity which is represented with $\log\!P_{\rm \,OW}$

The $P_{\rm OW}$ value is the common logarithm of $P_{\rm OW}$ that is a partition coefficient of the organic solvent between *n*-octanol and water. The $P_{\rm OW}$ value is an index of polarity and an indicator of the toxicity of the solvent. Organic solvents with lower log $P_{\rm OW}$ values are more toxic to microorganisms than are solvents with relatively higher log $P_{\rm OW}$ values. Microorganisms can grow in the presence of an organic solvent whose log $P_{\rm OW}$ is equal to or greater than a particular value. This particular value has been referred to as the index value



Fig. 1-2 Correlation between toxicity and polarity which is represented with $\log\!P_{\rm OW}$

The $P_{\rm OW}$ value is the common logarithm of $P_{\rm OW}$ that is a partition coefficient of the organic solvent between *n*-octanol and water. The $P_{\rm OW}$ value is an index of polarity and an indicator of the toxicity of the solvent. Organic solvents with lower log $P_{\rm OW}$ values are more toxic to microorganisms than are solvents with relatively higher log $P_{\rm OW}$ values. Microorganisms can grow in the presence of an organic solvent whose log $P_{\rm OW}$ is equal to or greater than a particular value. This particular value has been referred to as the index value.

1-4 Organic solvent tolerance mechanisms

Organic solvent tolerance in bacteria is a multi-functional process that involves a wide range of genetic and physiological changes to cope with solvent damage. The mechanisms of response and tolerance toward organic solvents have been extensively studied particularly in *Pseudomonas putida* and *Escherichia coli* strains. These include changes of the energetic status, changes of the membrane's fluidity, changes in the cell wall and outer membrane, modification of surface properties, changes of metabolic flux, and active transport of solvents from the membrane into the environment by efflux systems, and modification of membrane proteins (4, 39, 43, 85, 102).

1-4-1 Changes in the cell membrane

Organic solvents intercalate and accumulate in microbial membranes, and thereby increasing membrane fluidity (14, 96). Many microorganisms modify the membrane composition by counteracting the increase in fluidity caused by the partition of the solvent into the lipid bilayer. Some bacteria belonging to the genera *Pseudomonas* and *Vibrio* respond to the solvent by accelerating isomerization of the *cis* unsaturated fatty acids to *trans* unsaturated fatty acids. This reaction is mediated by the *cis-trans* isomerize whose activity is constitutively present and is located in the periplasm (38). Bacteria acquire denser membranes by the isomerization. This allows cells to adapt immediately to several forms of environmental stress including organic solvent stress and heat stress.

In addition of changes of unsaturated fatty acids via the *cis* to *trans*

isomerization, Pseudomonas putida can change the

saturated-to-unsaturated fatty acid ratio (2, 80) or the length of the acyl-chains (80). Increased levels of PlsX (fatty acid/ phospholipid biosynthesis) and FabF [3-oxoacyl-(acylcarrier- protein) synthase II] were found in the solvent tolerant mutant Rh8 of *Clostridium acetobutylicum*. Enhanced expression of these proteins lead to an increase in membrane saturated fatty acid content and to increased solvent tolerance (2). These fatty acid changes confer a denser membrane packing to bacteria, and thus contribute to solvent tolerance. The PlsX and FabF are involved in de novo biosynthesis of fatty acids. Therefore, this response requires long-term adaptation processes.

Changes in phospholipid head groups influence membrane's fluidity and are suggested to be also involved in solvent tolerance (85, 88, 96). In the case of *P. putida* and *E. coli*, the major classes of phospholipid are phosphatidylethanolamine (PE), phosphatidylglycerol (PG), and cardiolipin (CL). Changes in the head groups have been analyzed in several *Pseudomonas* species. In the case of *P. putida* S-12, the level of PE decreased and those of PG and CL increased, when this strain was grown in a chemostat culture in the presence of toluene. CL has a higher transition temperature than PE, and this leads to decrease membrane's fluidity and thus has a stabilizing effect. Similar changes in phospholipid head groups were observed in *P. putida* DOT-T1E exposed to toluene. On the other hand, The CL content in *P. putida* DOT-T1E influence the efficiency of the efflux pumps (13). The cyclopropane fatty acids (CFAs) are known as a crucial determinant of acid and alcohol resistance in *E. coli* (17). Expression of the *cfa* synthase gene is dependent on the RpoS sigma factor and it takes place when cells enter the stationary phase (17, 78). It has been reported that the CFAs are involved in solvent tolerance of *Pseudomonas* species. A *cfaB* mutant of *P. putida* DOT-T1E was more sensitive to toluene shock than the parental strain (79). In contrast with other genes involved in the toluene tolerance, the *cfaB* expression is not enhanced in response to toluene in *P. putida* (27). In addition, a *C. acetobutylicum* strain overexpressing the *cfa* synthase gene showed increased butanol tolerance (110). CFA synthase levels in *C. acetobutylicum* increased after the addition of butanol (2).

Comparative membrane proteome analysis of the *C. acetobutylicum* suggested that stabilization of the membrane structure and surface is a requirement of increased solvent tolerance (61). Goodarzi et al. (35) also pointed out the importance of a number of cell-wall structural components in solvent tolerance. *E. coli* mutants in *slt* which encodes a soluble lytic murein transglycosylase or strains overexpressing *murB* which encodes a UDP-*N*-acetylenolpyruvoylglucosamine reductase, showed higher survival rates at 7% ethanol than the wild-type.

Flagellar biosynthesis is also involved in organic solvent tolerance in several bacteria. Two proteins FlgE and Hag involved in flagellar assembly and synthesis were downregulated in the butanol-tolerant mutant from *C. acetobutylicum* Rh8 (61). In addition, proteins related to flagellar biosynthesis were downregulated in *E. coli* cells exposed to ethanol and in *P.*

putida KT2440 in the presence of toluene (22, 40). By contrast, the expression level of flagellar genes was kept at a high level in *P. putida* DOT-T1E (57). Involvement of flagellar proteins in tolerance has been previously described in other solvent-tolerant *P. putida* strains (48, 92). The knockout- mutants in specific flagellar genes in these strains showed diminished solvent tolerance.

Some *P. putida* strains produced membrane vesicles composed of phospholipids, exopolysaccharides and proteins, when they are exposed to toxic chemicals. This has been proposed to serve as an active mechanism to release solvents accumulated in the cell surfaces (52), or to modify the hydrophobicity of cell surfaces. *P. putida* DOT-T1E cells increased their hydrophobicity, shifted their outer membrane lipopolysaccharide composition toward more hydrophobic and lower molecular forms and released vesicles in response to long chain alkanols (12).

1-4-2 Heat stress response

Most of the proteomic and transcriptomic assays in bacteria indicated that proteins related to heat stress response (*groES*, *groL*, *grpE*, *dnaK*) were overexpressed in the presence of solvents such as ethanol, butanol, toluene, or xylene (2, 22, 35, 40, 87, 93, 103, 108). The *rpoH* regulon is upregulated in the presence of several alcohols (16, 89). Organic solvents disturb protein folding in the cytoplasm and periplasm, thus it is assumed that the production of various chaperones is necessary to repair denatured proteins.

1-4-3 Oxidative stress response

Several studies have also shown that alcohols and aromatic compounds generate oxidative agents, and this leads to activate the response against the oxidative stress. In the presence of organic solvents, the electron transport systems do not operate adequately, and this causes an increase in the production of hydrogen peroxide and other reactive oxygen species (16, 22, 40). In response to oxidative stress, several genes belonging to the OxyR regulon are induced by toluene in *P. putida* KT2440 (22), and genes regulated by OxyR or NrdR are upregulated also in *E. coli* ethanol tolerant strains (40).

1-4-4 Efflux pumps

Efflux pumps belonging to the RND family are considered to be the most efficient mechanism of solvent tolerance in Gram-negative bacteria(85). RND transporters are proton-driven efflux systems constituted by three proteins which form a multicomponent complex extending from the inner membrane to the outer membrane (29, 70). Three kinds of RND transporters are identified in *P. putida* DOT-T1E. The genes encoding for these transporters are named *ttgABC* (toluene tolerance genes), *ttgDEF*, and *ttgGHI*. The TtgABC and the TtgGHI pumps were involved in the efflux of toluene, styrene, xylene, ethylbenzene, and propylbenzene. On the other hand, TtgDEF efflux pump was involved in the efflux of styrene and toluene only. The deduced amino acid sequences of these proteins are similar to the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump in *E. coli* and the MexAB-OprM pump of *P. aeruginosa*. The AcrAB-TolC efflux pump in *E. coli* is discussed below.

1-4-5 Organic solvent tolerance in *Escherichia coli*

E. coli is a Gram-negative, facultative anaerobic, rod-shaped bacterium that is commonly found in the lower intestine of warm-blooded organisms. E. coli can be grown easily in a laboratory setting, and has been intensively investigated so far. E. coli is the most widely studied prokaryotic model organism, and an important species in the fields of biotechnology and microbiology. The adaptation and tolerance mechanisms toward organic solvents, particularly in *Pseudomonas putida* and *Escherichia coli* strains, have been extensively studied as described previous section. Owing to the wealth of biochemical, metabolic and genetic knowledge associated with E. *coli*, *E. coli* strains are useful as a model bacterium in understanding the organic solvent tolerance mechanisms. Although E. coli is less tolerant to organic solvents than several *Pseudomonas* spp., its tolerance level is relatively high among various microorganisms (4). E. coli strains generally are able to form colonies on an agar medium overlaid with *n*-hexane (log $P_{\rm OW}$ 3.9) but not on the medium overlaid with organic solvents with log $P_{\rm OW}$ below 3.9. Several organic solvent tolerant mutants were isolated from various *coli* strains (4). These organic solvent tolerant mutants displayed improved tolerance to organic solvents such as cyclohexane (log $P_{\rm OW}$ 3.4) and p-xylene (log $P_{\rm OW}$ 3.1). Analysis of the mechanisms of these organic solvent tolerant *E. coli* mutants revealed that *E. coli* has genes involved in determining organic solvent tolerance levels. Various mechanisms implicated in the solvent-tolerance of *E. coli* have been reported so far. These mechanisms include energy-dependent efflux systems (19, 53, 102),

lipopolysaccharides (82), a composition of fatty acids (82), maintenance of the proton motive force (51), and an alkyl hydroperoxide reductase (32). In addition, transcriptional analysis using DNA microarrays revealed that genes such as *glpC*, *purR manXYZ*, and *crp* coding for genes related to the metabolic pathway of carbon catabolism, are implicated in the organic solvent tolerance in *E. coli* (74, 75, 94, 95). Furthermore, heterologous expressions of chaperones from *Pyrococcus horikoshii* and *Bacillus psychrosaccharolyticus* were found to improve the tolerance of *E. coli* to organic solvents (47, 73). The genes involved in organic solvent tolerance in *E. coli* are listed in Table 1-2, and solvent tolerance mechanisms are summarized below.

Table 1-2 Genes involved in organic solvent-tolerance in Escherichia coli

Category	Gene	Involvement of the gene in the solvent-tolerance in <i>E. coli</i>	Ref.
Efflux pumps	acrAB	acrA and acrB code for AcrA, a periplasmic lipoprotein and AcrB, a proton-substrate antiporter protein, respectively. These proteins are components of the AcrAB-TolC multidrug efflux pump. The AcrAB-TolC efflux pump belonging to the resistance/nodulation/cell division (RND) family have been shown to provide intrinsic tolerance to organic solvents.	(117)
	tolC	$tolC{\rm codes}$ for an outer membrane protein which is a component of the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump.	(11)
	acrEF	<i>acrE</i> and <i>acrF</i> code for AcrE, a membrane fusion protein and AcrF, a transporter protein. AcrE and AcrF are highly homologous to AcrA and AcrB, respectively.	(61)
	yhiUV	<i>yhiU</i> and <i>yhiV</i> code for YhiU, a putative membrane protein and YhiV, a putative transporter. YhiU and YhiV exhibites significant homology to AcrA and AcrB, respectively.	(117)
	emrAB	<i>emrAB</i> code for EmrA, a membrane fusion protein, and EmrB, a major facilitator superfamily (MFS) transporter. The EmrAB-TolC system is responsible for the efflux of various toxins. The EmrAB-TolC pump seemed to be involved in nonane- and octane-tolerance in the DacrAB mutant.	(117)
Regulators for theexpression of efflux pump	marA	<i>marA</i> codes for a DNA-binding transcriptional activator MarA which is a transcriptional activator that controls the expression of <i>marA/soxS/rob</i> regulon genes. <i>acrAB</i> and <i>tolC</i> are <i>marA/soxS/rob</i> regulon genes. Thus, the overexpression of MarA enhances the expression level of the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump.	(14)
	marR	MarA is transcriptionally regulated. Transcription of the <i>marRAB</i> is repressed by MarR, whereas it is autoactivated by MarA. Mutations in <i>marR</i> enhance the expression level of the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump and thus result in the increase of organic solvent-tolerance level.	(14)
	robA	<i>robA</i> codes for a DNA-binding transcriptional activator belonging to the AraC subfamily. The overexpression of Rob protein enhances the expression level of the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump.	(76)
	soxS	<i>soxS</i> codes for a DNA-binding transcriptional activator belonging to the AraC subfamily. SoxS is implicated in the regulation of superoxide response regulon. The overexpression of SoxS protein enhances the expression level of the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump.	(77)
	soxR	SoxS is transcriptionally regulated. Transcription of the <i>soxS</i> is repressed by SoxR. Mutations in soxR enhance the expression level of the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump, and this lead to the increase of organic solvent-tolerance level.	(59)

Category	Gene	Involvement of the gene in the solvent-tolerance in E. coli	Ref.
Maintenance of the proton motive force	pspA	<i>pspA</i> codes for a phage-shock protein which is induced under extreme stress conditions. This protein is involved in <i>maintenance</i> of the protonmotive force. The survival frequency of <i>E. coli</i> exposed suddenly to <i>n</i> -hexane was improved by introduction of a plasmid containing the <i>psp</i> operon.	(59)
LPS	ostA	<i>ostAlimp</i> codes for a protein involved in the transport of lipopolysaccharides to the cell surface.	(7, 82)
Carbon catabolism	glpC	<i>glpC</i> codes for a subunit of GlpABC, an anaerobic glycerol-3- phosphate dehydrogenase. An <i>E. coli</i> strain carrying a plasmid containing <i>glpC</i> enhanced the colony-forming frequency on an agar medium overlaid with <i>n</i> -hexane.	(108)
	fruA	<i>fruA</i> codes for a fructose-specific transport protein. An <i>E. coli</i> strain carrying a plasmid containing <i>fruA</i> increased the colony-forming frequency on an agar medium overlaid with <i>n</i> -beyane	(108)
	purR	<i>purR</i> codes for a DNA-binding transcriptional repressor. Most genes of the <i>purR</i> regulon are involved in the nucleotide metabolism. An <i>E. coli</i> strain carrying a plasmid containing <i>purA</i> exhibited the increased organic solvent-tolerance on an agar medium overlaid with <i>p</i> -bexane	(107)
	manXYZ	manXYZ operon codes a sugar transporter of the phosphotransferase system. Overexpression of the manXYZ can enhance the organic solvent-tolerance in the presence of <i>n</i> - hexane.	(86)
	crp	<i>crp</i> codes for a cyclic AMP receptor that acts as a DNA-binding transcriptional regulator. Disruption of the <i>crp</i> gene resulted in the increase of organic solvent-tolerance on an agar medium overlaid with the solvent mixture of <i>n</i> -hexane and cyclohexane (1:1)	(85)
	cyaA	<i>cyaA</i> codes for an adenylate cyclase involved in cAMP biosynthetic processes. Deletion of the <i>cyaA</i> gene leaded to increase of organic solvent-tolerance on an agar medium overlaid with the solvent mixture of <i>n</i> -hexane and cyclohexane (1:1).	(85)
	gadB	gadB codes for a glutamate decarboxylase B subunit. Disruption of $gadB$ decreases the solvent-tolerance in <i>E. coli</i> strain	(85)
	nuoG	<i>nuoG</i> codes for a <i>peripheral</i> subunit of NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase. Disruption of <i>nuoG</i> decreases the solvent-tolerance of <i>E. coli</i> strain.	(85)
Alkyl hydroperoxid e reductase	ahpCF	<i>ahpCF</i> codes for an alkyl hydroperoxide reductase. A tetralin- tolerant <i>E. coli</i> containing a mutation in <i>ahpCF</i> was tolerant to cyclohexane, propylbenzene, and 1,2-dihydronaphthalene.	(35)

1-4-5-1 Energy-dependent efflux systems

A number of bacteria bear *multidrug efflux systems* to withstand various environments containing toxic compounds such as antibiotics and endogenous metabolic products. Multidrug efflux pumps are membrane proteins that extrude a variety of organic compounds actively out of the cell. Most bacteria possess several kinds of multidrug efflux pumps. Multidrug efflux pumps have been characterized by sequence homology. These include the ATP binding cassette (ABC) family, multidrug and toxic compound exporters (MATE), the small multidrug resistance (SMR) family (a member of the much larger drug/metabolite transporter superfamily), resistance-nodulation-division proteins (RND), and the major facilitator superfamily (MFS). Energy-dependent efflux systems belonging to the RND family play an important role in the maintenance solvent tolerance in gram-negative bacteria (19, 49, 59, 84, 102). The AcrAB-TolC efflux pump, a member of the RND family, is a major pump exporting various hydrophobic compounds in *E. coli* (33, 37). AcrA, AcrB and TolC are a membrane fusion protein anchored to the cytoplasmic membrane, a transporter protein located in the cytoplasmic membrane acting as an energy-dependent extrusion pump, and an outer membrane protein that is supposedly a channel which circumvents the outer membrane, respectively. Spontaneous cyclohexane-tolerant mutants from JA300 enhanced expression of AcrA and TolC (9, 102). However, the deletion of *acrAB* and *tolC* decreases the solvent tolerance of *E. coli*. The amount of solvent entering *E. coli* cells was measured after the cells were incubated in an organic solvent-aqueous two

phase system (102). In wild type strain JA300, the intracellular levels of solvents with a log P_{OW} higher than 4.4 were maintained at low levels. In contrast, the $\triangle tolC$ or $\triangle acrAB$ mutants accumulated the solvents more abundantly than the parent stain.

E. coli possesses several efflux pumps belonging to the RND family other than the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump. AcrE and AcrF are highly homologous to AcrA and AcrB, respectively. The *acrEF* genes are expressed under laboratory conditions at low levels. *E. coli* strain OST5500 is hypersensitive to solvents because *acrB* was defective by the insertion of IS30 (53). Suppressor mutants that were isolated from OST5500 showed high-level organic solvent tolerance. These mutants produced high levels of AcrE and AcrF proteins, which were not produced in OST5500, and in each mutant an insertion sequence (IS1 or IS2) was found integrated upstream of the *acrEF* operon. The suppressor mutants lost solvent tolerance by inactivation of the *acrEF* operon. The solvent hypersensitivity of OST5500 was suppressed by introduction of the *acrEF* operon with IS1 or IS2 integrated upstream of the operon but not by introduction of the operon lacking the integrated IS. These results indicated that IS integration activated *acrEF*, resulting in functional complementation of the *acrB* mutation.

YhiU and YhiV are also homologous to AcrA and AcrB, respectively. There proteins are thought to be components of a multidrug transporter. JA300 \triangle *acrAB* cells improved colony forming efficiency in the presence of nonane by transformation of a plasmid containing *yhiUV*(102). However, this recombinant was sensitive to octane and *n*-hexane. Since JA300 \triangle *acrAB*

cells harboring a plasmid containing *acrAB* or *acrEF* acquired tolerance against octane and *n*-hexane, the expression of *yhiUV* seemed not to be as effective in improving the organic solvent tolerance levels as the expression of *acrAB* or *acrEF*.

The Emr transporter system is known to extrude various drugs. This system is comprised of EmrB (a MFS transporter), EmrA (a membrane fusion protein) and TolC (an outer membrane channel). Although *E. coli* JA300 $\triangle acrAB$ was sensitive to nonane and octane, JA300 $\triangle acrAB$ harboring a plasmid containing *emrAB* improved the nonane or octane-tolerance levels (102). The Emr transporter seemed to confer tolerance on *E. coli* to weakly toxic solvents such as nonane and octane. However, *emrAB* disruptants derived from JA300 and JA300 $\triangle acrAB$, respectively.

1-4-5-2 Regulators for the expression of AcrAB-TolC efflux pump

Aono et al. cloned three genes, marA, robA and soxS, elevating the organic solvent tolerance of *E. coil* strain JA300 by the shotgun method from the JA300 chromosome itself (10, 66, 68). These genes code for DNA-binding proteins that are transcriptional activators belonging to the AraC subfamily with the helix-turn-helix motif. The products of these genes are known to be positively regulating the expression of several genes belonging to the mar-sox regulon. marA and soxS confer tolerance on *E. coli* to multiple antibiotics and superoxide anion. It was shown that the expression of the AcrAB-TolC system was positively regulated by high levels of the expression of *marA*, *robA* and *soxS* (5) (Fig. 1-4). Transcription of the *marRAB* is repressed by MarR, whereas it is autoactivated by MarA. *soxS* transcription is repressed by SoxR and enhanced by the activated form of SoxR after exposure to superoxides or nitric oxide (81). Mutations in *marR* or *soxR* were suggested to enhance the expression level of the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump (9, 54, 76, 86). Cyclohexane-tolerant mutants were defective in *marR*, a repressor protein for *mar* operon including *marA* (10). In addition, *acrAB* expression is modulated locally by the repressor AcrR (60). Thus, mutations in *acrR* can lead to the enhanced expression of AcrAB.

1-4-5-3 Maintenance of the proton motive force

A phage-shock protein, PspA, was strongly induced in *E. coli* strain grown in a liquid medium overlaid with *n*-hexane or cyclooctane (51). PspA has been reported to be induced in *E. coli* cells under extreme stress conditions, and is involved in maintenance of the proton motive force under stress conditions (50). *E. coli* strain overexpressing the *psp* operon improved the survival frequency of cells exposed suddenly to *n*-hexane, but not the growth rate of cells growing in the presence of *n*-hexane.



Fig. 1-4 Regulatory controls governing the expression of the *E. coli acrAB* and tolC genes

The Production of AcrA and AcrB is repressed by the local dimeric repressor protein AcrR. Activation of *acrAB* and *tolC* transcription occurs because of the global regulatory proteins MarA, SoxS, and Rob, any one of which can bind to a marbox upstream of these genes. The intracellular level of MarA is controlled by MarR, a dimeric protein which binds to *marO* and represses the expression of its own gene and the two others that constitute the marRAB operon. MarA protein can bind as a monomer to the *marO* marbox upstream of the *marRAB* promoter, where it activates transcription of *marRAB* and enhances the production of MarA. The highly elevated intracellular levels of MarA can then bind to marboxes adjacent to the promoters of *mar* regulon genes, such as *acrAB* and *tolC*, and activate their transcription. The MarA homologs SoxS and Rob can also bind to the *marO* marbox and activate *marRAB* transcription. SoxS is only produced upon conversion of the SoxR effector protein into its active form (SoxR*) by superoxide-generating agents. Rob can also activate the expression of some genes that belong to the *mar* regulon, such as *acrAB*.
1-4-5-4 Lipopolysaccharides

Genetic analysis of the *n*-hexane-tolerant strain JA300 and its *n*-hexane-sensitive derivative OST4251 showed that the *ostA* (<u>organic</u> <u>solvent tolerance</u>) is implicated in the maintenance of organic solvent tolerance in strain JA300 (8). The *ostA* was shown to be identical to the *imp* (<u>increased membrane permeability</u>) gene (7, 72). There were no mutations in the nucleotide sequence of the *ostA* structural gene of OST4251 compared to that of JA300. Instead, IS2 was integrated in upstream of *ostA* gene in OST4251. The insertion of IS2 at this position leaded to disrupt the putative promoter sequence. Western blotting analysis indicated that the expression level of OstA protein was significantly decreased in OST4251. These results showed that the *n*-hexane-sensitivity of OST4251 was caused by the lower production of the OstA production.

OstA is a minor protein associated with the outer membrane known to be essential for growth in *E. coli*. OstA mediates the transport of lipopolysaccharides (LPSs) to the cell surface (15). These results indicated that cell envelope biogenesis might be involved in the organic solvent tolerance in *E. coli*.

Analysis of cell surface properties in organic solvent tolerant E. coli mutants indicated that the cell surface of each solvent-tolerant E. coli mutant was less hydrophobic than that of the parent strain. LPS contents were higher in the solvent-tolerant mutants than in the parent strain. Therefore, this reduced hydrophobic property of cell surface in the mutants seemed to be caused by the increase of the content of LPS. Organic solvents bind readily to *E. coli* cells in response to the property of the solvent. The solvent-tolerant mutants were bound less abundantly with the organic solvent than was the parent.

1-4-5-5 Carbon catabolism

Transcriptional analysis using DNA microarrays revealed that genes related to the metabolic pathway of carbon catabolism are implicated in the organic solvent tolerance in *E. coli* (74, 75, 94, 95). Gene expression profiles were collected from several organic solvent tolerant mutants before and after exposure to organic solvents. Among several genes showing higher gene expression, the overexpression of the glpC gene improved the colony forming efficiency of *E. coli* strain JA300 in the presence of *n*-hexane. In addition, the overexpression of glpC in the *E. coli* strain decreased the hydrophobicity of the cell surface. The gene glpC is one of the genes of the glpABC operon encoding the anaerobic glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (18). The GlpC subunit functions as the membrane anchor for the catalytic GlpAB dimmer.

The gene *fruA* was also upregulated in the solvent-tolerant strains after exposure to organic solvents. Overexpression of *fruA* slightly enhanced the colony formation efficiency of the *E. coli* strain in the presence of *n*-hexane. Since FruA, as well as GlpC, is a membrane-associated protein (34), it is likely that the expression of *fruA* increases the organic solvent tolerance through a change in the cell surface properties.

Genes of purR regulon were strongly repressed after exposure to organic solvent (94).

The *purR* gene codes for a purine nucleotide synthesis repressor. Most genes of the *purR* regulon function as the enzymes of nucleotide metabolism. Overexpression of *purR* in strain JA300 increased the colony forming frequency in the presence of *n*-hexane. In contrast, deletion of *purR* decreases the solvent-tolerance of *E. coli*.

The expression levels of the *manX*, *manY*, and *manZ* genes in *E. coli* were strongly upregulated after exposure to organic solvents (75). E. coli strain JA300 overexpressing *manXYZ* significantly increased colony forming efficiency in the presence of *n*-hexane. The *manXYZ* operon codes a sugar transporter of the phosphotransferase system (75). E. coli strain JA300 overexpressing *manXYZ* significantly increased colony forming efficiency in the presence of *n*-hexane. The *manXYZ* operon codes a sugar transporter of the phosphotransferase system (28). The quantification of the intracellular *n*-hexane showed that the level of intracellular *n*-hexane was kept lower in *E*. coli cells overexpressing manXYZ after incubation with n-hexane. It was assumed that overexpression of *manXYZ* prevented the entry of the organic solvent into the cells and thus enhanced organic solvent tolerance. Adherence of the cells expressing *manXYZ* to hydrocarbons was also investigated in a two-phase mixture consisting of organic solvents and aqueous buffer. The result showed that *E. coli* cells expressing *manXYZ* can bind more abundantly to various organic solvents compared to the control cells. Expression analysis of ManXYZ showed that these proteins are localized in cell membrane. These results indicated that the expression of *manXYZ* changed the cell surface property to obtain a higher affinity to

hydrocarbons.

Since the *glpC*, *purR* and *manXYZ* genes were implicated in the metabolic pathway of glucose catabolism, changes in metabolic flux was assumed to affect the organic solvent tolerance of *E. coli*. In *E. coli*, seven global transcriptional regulators (*i.e., arcA, arcB, cra, crp, cyaA, fnr,* and *mlc*) are involved in carbon catabolism (62). The organic solvent tolerances in the knockout mutants of these seven global regulator genes were investigated to identify the metabolic pathway related to organic solvent tolerance (74). Among these genes, the disruption of *crp* and *cyaA* enhanced organic solvent tolerance in *E. coli*. The *crp* and *cyaA* genes code for a cyclic AMP receptor protein and an adenylate cyclase, respectively. Crp and cAMP, synthesized from Cya, are involved in catabolite repression in *E. coli*. Therefore, it was speculated that the formation of the cAMP-Crp complex is related to the solvent-tolerance. Δcrp and $\Delta cyaA$ mutants exhibited higher expression levels of *gadB* and *nuoG* than the wild type strain. *gadB* and *nuoG* code for a glutamate decarboxylase B subunit (99) and a peripheral subunit of NADH: ubiquinone oxidoreductase (31), respectively. $\Delta gadB$ and $\Delta nuoG$ mutants decreased the organic solvent tolerance levels. This result suggested that the expressions of these proteins are involved in the organic solvent tolerance in the Δcrp and $\Delta cyaA$ mutants. GadB and NuoG function as proton transporters. Therefore, proton transport might affect the organic solvent tolerance in E. coli.

1-4-5-6 Alkylhydroperoxide reductase

Tetralin (1,2,3,4-tetrahydronaphthalene)-tolerant *E. coli* mutant exhibited tolerance also to cyclohexane, propylbenzene, and 1,2-dihydronaphthalene (32). The wild type strain was not tolerant to these solvents. The gene involved in the solvent-tolerance was cloned from a recombinant library from mutant DNA and identified as alkylhydroperoxide reductase operon *aphCF*. A mutation was localized to a substitution of valine for glycine at position 142 in the coding region of *ahpC*, which is the gene that encodes the catalytic subunit of the gene. The *ahpC* mutant was found to have three times higher activity compared with that of the wild type strain in reducing tetralin hydroperoxide to 1,2,3,4-tetrahydro-1-naphthol. These results showed that the toxicity of solvents such as tetralin seemed to be caused by the formation of toxic hydroperoxides in the cell. The *ahpC* mutation increased the enzyme activity and acquired the tolerance to hydrophobic hydroperoxides.

1-4-5-7 Other mechanisms of organic solvent tolerance in E. coli

Supplements of alkaline earth ions such as Mg^{2+} , Ca^{2+} , Sr^{2+} , and Ba^{2+} enhance the organic solvent tolerance levels in *E. coli*. These ions exhibited the maximum effects at 5 to 10 mM when *E. coli* strain was grown in LBG medium (1% Bacto tryptone, 0.5% yeast extract, 1% NaCl, 0.1% glucose). It was assumed that these divalent cations might stabilize the membrane structure by reduction of charge repulsion between anionic molecules such as LPS in membranes.

The expression of two genes, *ostB* and *ostC*, improved the organic solvent

tolerance level of the *ostA*-defective *E. coli* mutant (4). By contrast, these genes did not improve other strains. *ostB* encodes a 26-kDa cytoplasmic protein having a helix-turn-helix motif like a GntR family protein. OstB seemed to regulate the expression of *ostC*. OstC is thought to encode a 52-kDa inner membrane protein having 14 transmembrane domains. The OstC protein is homologous to AraE family proteins that might be a H⁺/drug antiporter. This gene seems to correspond to the *bglT* gene.

Hydrophobic 6-lactam antibiotics passed through OmpF channels faster than through OmpC channels (69). Thus, the OmpF protein levels impact on the susceptibility of *E. coli* to several antibiotics. The levels of OmpF protein were markedly decreased in the *E. coli* mutants because of mutations in *marR* (11). OprF porin protein was reported to be absent in a toluene-tolerant mutant of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (58). It thus seemed likely that organic solvent molecules could also pass through the OmpF porin. Therefore, it was considered likely that the decreased levels of OmpF or loss of OmpF might contribute to improving the organic solvent tolerance of *E. coli*. The organic solvent tolerance of *E. coli* was measured under conditions in which the OmpF levels were controlled by various means as follows: alteration of NaCl concentration in the medium, transformation with a stress-responsive gene (*marA*, *robA*, or *soxS*), or disruption of the *ompF* gene (11). These results indicated that the solvent tolerance of *E. coli* did not depend on the OmpF levels in the membrane.

1-5 Applications of organic solvent tolerant bacteria in an aqueous-organic solvent two-phase bioconversion system

Whole-cell biocatalysts are beneficial in the bioconversions involving in their internal cofactor regeneration and requiring multi-step metabolic pathways. Bioconversions of hydrophobic compounds using whole-cell biocatalysts have been studied in aqueous-organic solvent two-phase systems (Fig. 1-5). There are a number of the advantages of the two-phase bioconversion systems as follows:

(1) Increase of the hydrophobic substrate concentration

(2) Maintenance of a low concentration of toxic or inhibitory compounds in the aqueous phase which reduces substrate and/or end-product inhibition

(3) Easier recovery of both product and biocatalyst

(4) Prevention of product and/or substrate hydrolysis

- (5) Reduction of mass transfer limitations
- (6) Alteration of substrate/product partitioning
- (7) Reduction of the culture scale
- (8) Prevention of the bacterial contamination

However, there are also disadvantages in the two-phase system as follows:

- (1) Inhibitory effect on the biocatalyst
- (2) Low reaction rates of highly hydrophobic compounds
- (3) Problem of waste disposal and recycling
- (4) Increase in system complexity
- (5) Cost increase to guarantee safety

(6) Clotting of biomass

Organic solvent tolerant bacteria can expand the usability for bioconversion in the presence of a wide range of the solvents and enhance the productivity levels. Many two-phase biotransformation systems using organic solvent tolerant microorganisms have been studied. Several selected examples of these bioconversions are listed in Table 2 and some are described below.

Various characteristics of organic solvents employing in the two phase bioconversion system are required to establish an effective biotransformation system. These include favorable distribution coefficient for product and substrate, high selectivity, low emulsion-forming tendency, low aqueous solubility, chemical and thermal stability, favorable properties for product recovery, non-biodegradability, non-hazardous, inexpensive, available in bulk quantity, and bio-compatibility.

There are several approaches to obtaining organic solvent tolerant microorganisms which possess biocatalytic properties available for the two-phase bioconversion system. The approaches described in this section can be roughly divided into two groups as follows: (1) screening of organic solvent tolerant microorganisms which naturally possess useful biocatalytic properties and (2) introduction of genes encoding for useful enzymes into organic solvent tolerant microorganisms. Both of these approaches require broadening of the knowledge of the mechanism of organic solvent tolerance to construct highly efficient bioconversion systems in the presence of organic

solvents.

1-5-1 Steroid bioconversion in the two-phase system

Cholesterol, being a component of eukaryote cell membranes and a precursor of steroid hormones, is typical of insoluble materials. It is usually used as a raw material for bioproduction of valuable steroids in a water-organic solvent two-phase system to improve the conversion reaction rate. Immobilized cells or enzymes are often employed in the bioproduction of cholesterol dissolved in organic solvents at a high concentration. Thus, cholesterol was used to examine the potential advantage of organic solvent tolerant microorganisms in the two-phase system.

A cholesterol-converting microorganism, Burkholderia cepacia strain ST-200 was isolated from humus soil with a screening medium overlaid with organic solvents (6). Strain ST-200 exhibited tolerance to various organic solvents such as decane, nonane, cyclooctane, *n*-octane, diphenylmethane, and cyclohexane, but not *p*-xylene. Strain ST-200 grew in a medium overlaid with a 10% (vol/vol) organic solvents containing cholesterol, and effectively converted cholesterol to 68-hydroperoxycholest-4-en-3-one and cholest-4-ene-3,6-dione (Fig. 1-6 A). The conversion was not effective in a monophasic system in which cholesterol was suspended. This result indicated that a two phase fermentation system using organic solvent tolerant microorganisms is effective for cholesterol bioconversion. The first step of cholesterol oxidation was catalyzed by an enzyme cholesterol oxidase. This enzyme was highly stable in the presence of organic solvents.



Fig. 1-5 Bioconversion in a two-phase system

Bioconversions of hydrophobic compounds using whole-cell biocatalysts have been applied to in aqueous-organic solvent two-phase systems. The two phase bioconversion system has many advantages.



Fig. 1-6 Bioconversion of various compounds in the two phase system
(A) Cholesterol bioconversion by *Burkholderia cepacia* strain ST-200, (B)
Steroid hormone precursors production from lithocholic acid by *Pseudomonas putida* strain ST-491, (C) Indigo production from indole by *Acinetobacter* sp. ST-550, (D) 3-Methylcatechol production from toluene by *Pseudomonas putida* S12, (E) Phenol production from glucose by *Pseudomonas putida* S12.

Thus, organic solvent tolerant bacteria often produce organic solvent tolerant enzymes.

Cleavage of the C-17 side chains of steroids is crucial for the production of steroid hormones. The use a two-phase bioconversion system was employed for microbial cleavage of the side chains of organic solvent-insoluble steroids (100). Lithocholic acid and deoxycholic acid have C-24 carboxyl groups on their side chains. These bile acids are insoluble in hydrophobic organic solvents due to the polar carboxyl group and 3-hydroxyl group. When the polar carboxyl groups of lithocholic acid were cleaved and the 3-hydroxyl group of the compound was oxidized by microorganisms in the two phase system, more hydrophobic steroid hormone precursors such as androsta-4-dien-3,17-dione (AD) and androsta-1,4-diene-3,17-dione (ADD) were formed and extracted into the organic solvent phase (Fig. 1-6 B). Therefore, the two phase system can be used for an extractive bioconversion of hydrophobic steroid hormone precursors from polar bile acids. An Pseudomonas putida strain ST-491 isolated from humus soil was able to convert bile acids to steroid hormone precursors in the presence of cyclooctane. Strain ST-491 was tolerant to cyclooctane, diphenyl ether, *n*-hexane, or *p*-xylene. The time course of steroid hormones production by strain ST-491was examined. In the absence of solvent, strain ST-491 catabolized approximately 30% of the substrate as a carbon source and transiently accumulated ADD in an amount corresponding to 5% of the substrate added. When 20% (vol/vol) diphenyl ether containing 0.5% (wt/vol) lithocholic acid was added to the medium, 60% of the substrate was converted to 17-ketosteroids (AD and ADD) or a 22-aldehyde steroid

(pregne-1,4-dien-3-on-20-al) (PDOA). The amounts of the products were responsible for 45% (ADD), 10% (PDOA), and 5% (AD) of the substrate, respectively. These results showed that diphenyl ether facilitates catabolism from lithocholic acid to ADD rather than suppressing the assimilation of ADD. In addition, these results indicated that a two phase fermentation system can be used not only for bioconversion of a hydrophobic compound but also for that of a compound with low solubility in organic solvents.

1-5-2 Bioproduction of textile dye in the two-phase system

Indigo is one of the world's largest-selling textile dyes used on cotton and wool fabrics. This dye was traditionally produced from plants of the genus *Indigofera*. Plant-derived indigo has been replaced by synthetic indigo in the textile industry. Several attempts have been made to produce indigo from indole by microorganisms expressing monooxygenase or dioxygenase (Fig. 1-6 C) (25, 65). One obstacle to the production of indigo is the toxicity of the substrate indole to the producers. The concentration of indole in the medium must be kept low to avoid the toxic effect (23). However, the substrates are readily consumed by the microorganisms when little indole is supplied. Thus, indigo formation is not very effective. Indole is more soluble in several kinds of organic solvents than in water. Therefore, the two-phase bioconversion system seemed to be useful for the microbial production of indigo from indole. *Acinetobacter* sp. strain ST-550 isolated from humus soil samples, effectively produced indigo from indole in the two phase system (26). ST-550 produced a slight amount of indigo (less than 0.1 mg/ml) when grown in the presence of

indole at concentrations of 0.05 to 0.3 mg/ml. However, ST-550 effectively produced indigo when ST-550 was grown in the presence of a large volume of diphenylmethane and a high level of indole. One of the optimized conditions for indigo production was that ST-550 was grown in 3 ml of a medium containing 0.3 ml of diphenylmethane and 2.7 mg of indole. Under the condition, ST-550 produced 0.88 mg of indigo (292 µg/ml-medium).

Genes involved in the conversion of indole to indigo in strain ST-550 were identified and cloned (24). These genes were identical to those coding for the multicomponent phenol hydroxylase from *Acinetobacter calcoaceticus* NCBI8250. The genes were introduced into *E. coli* JA300 and its cyclohexane-tolerant mutant OST3410, and the production of indigo in the two-phase system was examined with the resulting recombinants. OST3410 recombinant produced 52 μ g indigo/ml of the medium in the presence of diphenylmethane. This productivity was 4.3-fold higher than that of JA300 recombinant.

1-5-3 3-Methylcatechol production from toluene in the two-phase system

Catechol and its derivatives have been used in the manufacture of synthetic flavours such as vanillin, and precursors for pharmaceutical production. They are difficult to synthesize chemically (37).

A solvent-tolerant *Pseudomonas putida* S12 efficiently produced 3-methylcatechol from toluene using the solvent-tolerant in an aqueus-octanol two -phase system (Fig. 1-6 D) (106). *P. putida* strain S12 lacks ability to metabolize toluene. This strain was endowed by introduction

of the genes from *P. putida* F1 coding for toluene dioxygenase, *todC1C2BA*, and *cis*-toluene dihydrodiol dehydrogenase, *todD*, to produces 3-methylcatechol from toluene. The maximum concentration of 3-methylcatechol was increased two-fold by the use of the two-liquid medium-octanol system.

P. putida MC2 produced 3-methylcatechol from toluene by in the presence of 1-octanol (36). The strain originally contained a toluene degradation pathway. This native pathway was mutated to stop further enzymatic degradation of the metabolite from toluene. Additional sets of todC1C2BADgenes for 3-methylcatechol production were introduced into this strain. As the result of two-phase bioconversion system using the recombinant, the production of 3-methylcatechol increased compared to that in aqueous media without any solvent.

1-5-4 Phenol bioproduction from glucose in the two-phase system

Bioproduction of chemicals from natural renewable resources received considerable attention in recent times. These processes are possible to reduce fossil resources dependency and maintain closed carbon cycles. A solvent-tolerant *P. putida* S12 effectively producing phenol from glucose by introducing the *tpl* gene from *Pantoea agglomerans*, encoding tyrosine phenol lyase, into the solvent-tolerant strain *P. putida* S12 (Fig. 1-6 E) (107). In a fed-batch process, the productivity was limited by accumulation of 5 mM phenol in the medium. This toxicity was overcome by use of octanol as an extractant for phenol in a biphasic medium-octanol system. This approach resulted in the accumulation of 58 mM phenol in the octanol phase, and there was a two-fold increase in the overall production compared to a single-phase fed batch.

1-6 Bioremediation

Organic solvent tolerant microorganisms are attractive also for bioremediation decomposing pollutants such as crude oil, aromatic hydrocarbons and sulfur compounds.

Flavobacterium sp. strain DS-711 isolated from deep-sea mud samples showed halotolerant growth and tolerance to various organic solvents such as benzene, toluene and p-xylene (63). Strain DS-711 effectively degraded crude oils and various n-alkanes. A benzene-, cyclohexane- and n-hexane-tolerant *Bacillus* sp. strain DS-1906 also isolated from the deep sea degraded polyaromatic compounds such as naphthalene, fluorine, phenanthrene, anthracene, pyrene, chrysene, and 1,2-benzopyrene in a liquid n-hexane-medium two phase system (1).

Sulfur oxides, one of the air pollutants, are generated by the combustion of sulfur-containing fossil fuel. Biodesulfurization is an attractive alternative to remove the sulfur in a petroleum-refining process. The derivatives of dibenzothiophene (DBT) and benzothiophene are the most abundant heterocyclic compounds in petroleum. A benzene-, toluene- and p-xylene-tolerant *Bacillus* sp. strain DS-994 isolated from the deep sea was tolerant to various organic solvents grew in a liquid medium overlaid with model petroleum oil containing DBT and degraded DBT dissolved in the oil

A solvent-tolerant desulfurizing bacterium, *Pseudomonas putida* A4, was constructed by introducing the biodesulfurizing gene cluster *dszABCD* from *Rhodococcus erythropolis* XP, into the solvent-tolerant strain *P. putida* Idaho (101). Strain A4 effectively degraded DBT in the presence of *p*-xylene.

1-7 Application of efflux pump in nano device

Antibiotics are difficult to selectively remove from surface waters by present treatment methods. The AcrAB-TolC efflux pump is a principal multidrug exporter in *E. coli* and the pump has evolved the ability to discriminately expel antibiotics and other noxious agents via proton and ATP driven pathways. Vikram Kapoor and David Wendell reported light-dependent removal of antibiotics by engineering the bacterial efflux pump AcrB into a proteovesicle system (105). They have created a chimeric protein with the requisite proton motive force by coupling AcrB to the light-driven proton pump Delta-rhodopsin (dR) via a glycophorin A transmembrane domain. This creates a solar powered protein material capable of selectively capturing antibiotics from bulk solutions. Using environmental water and direct sunlight, the AcrB-dR vesicles removed almost twice as much antibiotic as the treatment standard, activated carbon. Altogether, the AcrB-dR system provides an effective means of extracting antibiotics from surface waters as well as potential antibiotic recovery through vesicle solubilization.

1-8 References

- Abe, A., A. Inoue, R. Usami, K. Moriya, and K. Horikoshi. 1995.
 Degradation of polyaromatic hydrocarbons by organic solvent-tolerant bacteria from deep sea. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 59:1154-1156.
- Alsaker KV, P. C., Papoutsakis ET. 2010. Metabolite stress and tolerance in the production of biofuels and chemicals: geneexpressionbased systems analysis of butanol, butyrate, and acetate stresses in the anaerobe *Clostridium acetobutylicum*. Biotechnol Bioeng 105:1131-1147.
- Ana Segura, E. D., Gilberto Mosqueda, Juan L. Ramos and Frank Junker. 1999. Multiple responses of Gram-negative bacteria to organic solvents. Environmental Microbiology 1:191-198.
- Aono, R. 1998. Improvement of organic solvent tolerance level of Escherichia coli by overexpression of stress-responsive genes. Extremophiles 2:239-248.
- 5. Aono, R., M. Kobayashi, H. Nakajima, and H. Kobayashi. 1995. A close correlation between organic solvent tolerance and multiple antibiotic resistance systems. Biosci Biotech Biochem **59**:213-218.
- Aono, R., N. Doukyu, H. Kobayashi, H. Nakajima, and K. Horikoshi. 1994. Oxidative Bioconversion of cholesterol by *Pseudomonas* sp. strain ST-200 in a water-organic solvent two-phase system. Appl Environ Microbiol 60:2518-2523.
- 7. Aono, R., T. Negishi, and H. Nakajima. 1994. Cloning of organic solvent tolerance gene ostA that determines *n*-hexane tolerance level

in Escherichia coli. Appl Environ Microbiol 60:4624-4626.

- Aono, R., T. Negishi, K. Aibe, A. Inoue, and K. Horikoshi. 1994.
 Mapping of organic solvent tolerance gene ostA in *Escherichia coli* K-12. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 58:1231-1235.
- 9. Aono R, T. N., Yamamoto M. 1998. Involvement of outer membrane protein TolC, a possible member of the mar-sox regulon, in maintenance and improvement of organic solvent tolerance of Escherichia coli K-12. J Bacteriol 180:938-944.
- Asako, H., H. Nakajima, K. Kobayashi, M. Kobayashi, and R. Aono. 1997. Organic solvent tolerance and antibiotic resistance increased by overexpression of marA in *Escherichia coli*. Appl Environ Microbiol 63:1428-1433.
- Asako, H., K. Kobayashi, and R. Aono. 1999. Organic solvent tolerance of *Escherichia coli* is independent of OmpF levels in the membrane. Appl Environ Microbiol 65:294-296.
- 12. Baumgarten T, V. z. J., Bastisch C, Veron W, Feuilloley MGJ, Nietzsche S, Wick LY, Heipieper HJ. 2011. Alkanols and chlorophenols cause different physiological adaptive responses on the level of cell surface properties and membrane vesicle formation in *Pseudomonas putida* DOT-T1E. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol.
- Bernal P, M. o.-R. J., Hurtado A, Ramos JL, Segura A. 2007. A *Pseudomonas putida* cardiolipin synthase mutant exhibits increased sensitivity to drugs related to transport functionality. Environ Microbiol 9:1135-1145.

- Bernal P, S. A., Ramos JL. 2007. Compensatory role of the cistransisomerase and cardiolipin synthase in the membrane fluidity of Pseudomonas putida DOT-T1E. Environ Microbiol 9:1658-1664.
- Bos, M., B. Tefsen, J. Geurtsen, and J. Tommassen. 2004. Identification of an outer membrane protein required for the transport of lipopolysaccharide to the bacterial cell surface. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101:9417-9422.
- Brynildsen MP, L. J. 2009. An integrated network approach identifies the isobutanol response network of *Escherichia coli*. Mol Syst Biol 5:277.
- Chang YY, C. J. J. 1999. Membrane cyclopropane fatty acid content is a major factor in acid resistance of *Escherichia coli*. Mol Microbiol 33:249-259.
- Cole, S., K. Eiglmeier, S. Ahmed, N. Honore, L. Elmes, W. Anderson, and J. H. Weiner. 1988. Nucleotide sequence and gene-polypeptide relationship of the *glpABC* operon encoding the anaerobic sn-glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase of *Escherichia coli* K-12. J Bacteriol 170:2448-2456.
- D G White, J. D. G., B Demple and S B Levy. 1997. Role of the acrAB Locus in Organic Solvent Tolerance Mediated by Expression of marA, soxS, or robA in *Escherichia coli*. American Society for Microbiology 179:6122–6126.
- 20. **D L Cruden, J. H. W., R D Rogers and D T Gibson.** 1992. Physiological properties of a Pseudomonas strain which grows with p-xylene in a

two-phase (organic-aqueous) medium. Applied and Environmental Microbiology **58**:2723-2729.

- Davidson PM, B. A. 1981. Antimicrobial activity of nonhalogenated phenolic compounds. J Food Prot 44:623–632.
- 22. Domi'nguez-Cuevas P, G. I.-P. J., Marque' s S, Ramos JL, de Lorenzo V. 2006. Transcriptional tradeoff between metabolic and stress-response programs in Pseudomonas putida KT2440 cells exposed to toluene. J Biol Chem 281:11981-11991.
- Doukyu, N., and R. Aono. 1997. Biodegradation of indole at high concentration by persolvent fermentation with *Pseudomonas* sp. ST-200. Extremophiles 1:100-105.
- 24. Doukyu, N., K. Toyoda, and R. Aono. 2003. Indigo production by *Escherichia coli* carrying phenol hydroxylase gene from *Acinetobacter* sp. strain ST-550 in a water-organic solvent two phase system. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 60:720-725.
- Doukyu, N., T. Arai, and R. Aono. 1997. Effects of organic solvents on indigo formation by *Pseudomonas* sp. strain ST-200 growth with high levels of indole. . Biosci. Biotech. Biochem 62:1075-1080.
- 26. Doukyu, N., T. Nakano, Y. Okuyama, and R. Aono. 2002. Isolation of an *Acinetobacter* sp. ST-550 which produces a high level of indigo in a water-organic solvent two-phase system containing high levels of indole. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 58:543-546.
- 27. Duque E, R. g.-H. J., de la Torre J, Domi'nguez- Cuevas P, Mun[~] oz-Rojas J, Ramos JL. 2007. The RpoT regulon of *Pseudomonas putida*

DOT-T1E and its role in stress endurance against solvents. J Bacteriol **189**:207-219.

- Erni, B., and B. Zanolari. 1985. The mannose-permease of the bacterial phosphotransferase system. Gene cloning and purification of the enzyme IIMan/IIIMan complex of *Escherichia coli*. J Biol Chem 260:15495-15503.
- 29. Eswaran J, K. E., Higgins MK, Hughes C, Koronakis V. 2004. Three's company: component structures bring a closer view of tripartite drug efflux pumps. Curr Opin Struct Biol 14:741-747.
- 30. F J Weber, L. P. O., R M Schemen, S Hartmans and J A de Bont. 1993. Adaptation of *Pseudomonas putida* S12 to high concentrations of styrene and other organic solvents. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 59:3502-3504.
- 31. Falk-Krzesinski, H., and A. Wolfe. 1998. Genetic analysis of the nuo locus, which encodes the proton-translocating NADH dehydrogenase in *Escherichia coli*. J Bacteriol 180:1174-1184.
- 32. Ferrante, A., J. Augliera, K. Lewis, and A. Klibanov. 1995. Cloning of an organic solvent-resistance gene in *Escherichia coli*: the unexpected role of alkylhydroperoxide reductase. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92:7617-7621.
- Fralick, J. 1996. Evidence that TolC is required for functioning of the Mar/AcrAB efflux pump of *Escherichia coli*. J Bacteriol 178:5803-5805.
- 34. Geerse, R., C. Ruig, A. Schuitema, and P. Postma. 1986. Relationship between pseudo-HPr and the PEP: fructose phosphotransferase

system in *Salmonella typhimurium* and *Escherichia coli*. Mol Gen Genet **203**:435-444.

- Goodarzi H, B. B., Amini S, Reaves ML, Hottes AK, Rabinowitz JD, Tavazoie S. 2010. Regulatory and metabolic rewiring during laboratory evolution of ethanol tolerance in *E. coli*. Mol Syst Biol 6:378.
- Hüsken, L. E., M. C. Dalm, J. Tramper, J. Wery, J. A. de Bont, and R.
 Beeftink. 2001. Integrated bioproduction and extraction of 3-methylcatechol. J Biotechnol 88:11-19.
- Hüsken, L. E., M. Oomes, K. Schroën, J. Tramper, J. A. de Bont, and R.
 Beeftink. 2002. Membrane-facilitated bioproduction of 3-methylcatechol in an octanol/water two-phase system. J Biotechnol 96:281-289.
- 38. Heipieper HJ, M. F., Segura A. 2003. The cis-trans isomerase of unsaturated fatty acids in Pseudomonas and Vibrio: biochemistry, molecular biology and physiological function of an unique stress adaptative mechanism. FEMS Microbiol Lett **229**:1-7.
- Heipieper HJ, N. G., Cornelissen S, Meinhardt F. 2007.
 Solvent-tolerant bacteria for biotransformations in two-phase fermentation systems. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 74:961-973.
- 40. Horinouchi T, T. K., Furusawa C, Ono N, Suzuki S, Hirasawa T, Yomo
 T, Shimizu H. 2010. Transcriptome analysis of parallel-evolved
 Escherichia coli strains under ethanol stress. BMC Genomics 11:579.
- 41. Inoue A, H. K. 1991. Estimation of solvent-tolerance of bacteria by the

solvent parameter log P. J Ferment Bioeng 71:194–196.

- 42. Inoue A, H. K. 1989. A Pseudomonas putida thrives in high concentrations of toluene. Nature **338**:264–266
- Isken S, d. B. J. 1998. Bacteria tolerant to organic solvents. Extremophiles 2:229–238.
- 44. J L Ramos, E. D., M J Huertas and A Haïdour. 1995. Isolation and expansion of the catabolic potential of a *Pseudomonas putida* strain able to grow in the presence of high concentrations of aromatic hydrocarbons. Journal of Bacteriology **177** 3911-3916.
- JAM, d. B. 1998. Solvent-tolerant bacteria in biocatalysis. Trends Biotechnol 16:493–499.
- 46. Juan L. Ramos, E. D., Jose' -Juan Rodri'guez-Herva, Patricia Godoy, Ali Hai⁻⁻dour, Fernando Reyes, and Alejandro Ferna' ndez-Barrero. 1996. Mechanisms for Solvent Tolerance in Bacteria. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 272:3887-3890.
- Kang, H. J., D. H. Heo, S. W. Choi, K. N. Kim, J. Shim, C. W. Kim, H. C. Sung, and C. W. Yun. 2007. Functional characterization of Hsp33 protein from *Bacillus psychrosaccharolyticus*; additional function of HSP33 on resistance to solvent stress. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 358:743-750.
- 48. Kieboom J, B. R., Keizer-Gunnink I, de Bont JAM. 2001. Transposon mutations in the flagella biosynthetic pathway of the solvent-tolerant *Pseudomonas putida* S12 result in a decreased expression of solvent efflux genes. FEMS Microbiol Lett 198:117-122.

- 49. Kieboom, J., J. Dennis, J. de Bont, and G. Zylstra. 1998. Identification and molecular characterization of an efflux pump involved in *Pseudomonas putida* S12 solvent tolerance. J Biol Chem 273:85-91.
- 50. Kleerebezem, M., W. Crielaard, and J. Tommassen. 1996. Involvement of stress protein PspA (phage shock protein A) of *Escherichia coli* in maintenance of the protonmotive force under stress conditions. EMBO J 15:162-171.
- 51. Kobayashi, H., M. Yamamoto, and R. Aono. 1998. Appearance of a stress-response protein, phage-shock protein A, in *Escherichia coli* exposed to hydrophobic organic solvents. Microbiology **144**:353-359.
- Kobayashi H, U. K., Hirayama H, Horikoshi K. 2000. Novel toluene elimination system in a toluene-tolerant microorganism. J Bacteriol 182:6451-6455.
- 53. Kobayashi, K., N. Tsukagoshi, and R. Aono. 2003. Suppression of hypersensitivity of *Escherichia coli acrB* mutant to organic solvents by integrational activation of the *acrEF* operon with the IS1 or IS2 element. J Bacteriol **183**:2646–2653.
- 54. Komp Lindgren, P., A. Karlsson, and D. Hughes. 2003. Mutation rate and evolution of fluoroquinolone resistance in *Escherichia coli* isolates from patients with urinary tract infections. . Antimicrob Agents Chemother 47:3222-3232.
- 55. L. E. Nielsen, D. R. K., S. Rajagopal, R. Drijber, and K. W. Nickerson. 2005. Survey of extreme solvent tolerance in gram-positive cocci: membrane fatty acid changes in Staphylococcus haemolyticus grown

in toluene. Appl. Environ. Microbiol 71:5171-5176.

- Laane C, B. S., Vos K, Veeger C. 1987. Rules for optimization of biocatalysis in organic solvents. Biotechnol Bioeng 30:81–87.
- 57. Lacal J, M. o.-M. n. F., Reyes-Darı'as JA, Duque E, Matilla M, Segura A, Calvo JJ, Jı'menez-Sa' nchez C, Krell T, Ramos JL. 2011. Bacterial chemotaxis towards aromatic hydrocarbons in *Pseudomonas*. Environ Microbiol 13:1733-1744.
- 58. Li, L., T. Komatsu, A. Inoue, and K. Horikoshi. 1995. A toluene-tolerant mutant of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* lacking the outer membrane protein F. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 59:2358-2359.
- Li, X.-Z., Z. Li, and K. Poole. 1998. Role of the multidrug efflux systems of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in organic solvent tolerance. J Bacteriol 180:2987-2991.
- 60. Ma, D., M. Alberti, C. Lynch, H. Nikaido, and J. E. Hearst. 1996. The local repressor AcrR plays a modulating role in the regulation of *acrAB* genes of *Escherichia coli* by global stress signals. Mol. Microbiol 19:101-112.
- 61. **Mao S, L. Y., Bao G, Zhang Y, Li Y, Ma Y.** 2011. Comparative analysis on the membrane proteome of Clostridium acetobutylicum wild-type strain and its butanol-tolerant mutant. Mol BioSyst **7**:1660-1677.
- Martinez-Antonio, A., and J. Collado-Vides. 2003. Identifying global regulators in transcriptional regulatory networks in bacteria. Curr Opin Microbiol 6:482-489.
- 63. Moriya, K., and K. Horikoshi. 1993. Isolation of a benzene-tolerant

bacterium and its hydrocarbon degradation. J Ferment Bioeng **76**:168-173.

- 64. **Moriya K, H. K.** 1993. A benzene-tolerant bacterium utilizing sulfur compounds isolated from deep sea. J Ferment Bioeng **76**:397–399.
- 65. Murdock, D., B. Ensley, C. Serdar, and M. Thalen. 1993. Construction of metabolic operons catalyzing the de novo biosynthesis of indigo in *Escherichia coli*. Biotechnology 11:381-386.
- 66. Nakajima, H., K. Kobayashi, M. Kobayashi, H. Asako, and R. Aono. 1995. Overexpression of the robA gene increases organic solvent tolerance and multiple antibiotic and heavy metal ion resistance in *Escherichia coli*. Appl Environ Microbiol **61**:2302-2307.
- Nakajima H, K. H., Aona R, Horikoshi K. 1992. Effective isolation and identification of toluene-tolerant Pseudomonas strains. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 56:1872–1873.
- 68. Nakajima, H., M. Kobayashi, T. Negishi, and R. Aono. 1995. soxRS gene increased the level of organic solvent tolerance in *Escherichia coli*. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 59:1323-1325.
- Nikaido, H., E. Rosenberg, and J. Foulds. 1983. Porin channels in Escherichia coli: studies with b-lactams in intact cells. J Bacteriol 153:232-240.
- Nikaido H, T. Y. 2009. Mechanisms of RND multidrug efflux pumps.
 Biochim Biophys Acta 1794:769-781.
- 71. **Ogino H, M. K., Ishikawa H.** 1994. Organic solvent-tolerant bacterium which secretes an organic solvent-stable lipolytic enzyme. Appl

Environ Microbiol 60:3884–3886.

- 72. Ohtsu, I., N. Kakuda, N. Tsukagoshi, N. Dokyu, H. Takagi, M. Wachi, and R. Aono. 2004. Transcriptional analysis of the *ostA/imp* gene involved in organic solvent sensitivity in *Escherichia coli*. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 68:458-461.
- 73. Okochi, M., K. Kanie, M. Kurimoto, M. Yohda, and H. Honda. 2008. Overexpression of prefoldin from the hyperthermophilic archaeum *Pyrococcus horikoshii* OT3 endowed *Escherichia coli* with organic solvent tolerance. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol **79**:443-449.
- 74. Okochi, M., M. Kurimoto, K. Shimizu, and H. Honda. 2008. Effect of global transcriptional regulators related to carbohydrate metabolism on organic solvent tolerance in *Escherichia coli*. J Biosci Bioeng 105:389-394.
- 75. Okochi, M., M. Kurimoto, K. Shimizu, and H. Honda. 2007. Increase of organic solvent tolerance by overexpression of *manXYZ* in *Escherichia coli*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol **73**:1394-1399.
- 76. Okusu, H., D. Ma, and H. Nikaido. 1996. AcrAB efflux pump plays a major role in the antibiotic resistance phenotype of *Escherichia coli* multiple-antibiotic-resistance (Mar) mutants. J Bacteriol 178:306-308.
- 77. Paje ML, N. B., Couperwhite I. 1997. A Rhodococcus species that thrives on medium saturated with liquid benzene. Microbiology 143:2975–2981.
- 78. Pini C, G. P., Bernal P, Ramos JL, Segura A. 2011. Regulation of the cyclopropane synthase cfaB gene in *Pseudomonas putida* KT2440.

FEMS Microbiol Lett **321**:107-114.

- 79. Pini CV, B. P., Godoy P, Ramos JL, Segura A. 2009. Cyclopropane fatty acids are involved in organic solvent tolerance but not in acid stress resistance in *Pseudomonas putida* DOT-T1E. Microb Biotechnol 2:253-261.
- 80. **Pinkart HC, W. D.** 1997. Phospholipid biosynthesis and solvent tolerance in Pseudomonas putida strains. J Bacteriol **179**:4219-4226.
- Pomposiello, P. J., and B. Demple. 2001. Redox-operated genetic switches: the SoxR and OxyR transcription factors. Trends Biotechnol 19:109-114.
- R. Aono, a. H. K. 1997. Cell surface properties of organic solvent-tolerant mutants of Escherichia coli K-12. Appl. Environ. Microbiol 63:3637-3642.
- R. Aono, K. A., A. Inoue, K. Horikoshi. 1991. Preparation of organic solvent-tolerant mutants from E. coli K-12. Agric. Biol. Chem. 55:1935–1938.
- 84. Ramos, J., E. Duque, P. Godoy, and A. Segura. 1998. Efflux pumps involved in toluene tolerance in *Pseudomonas putida* DOT-T1E. J Bacteriol 180:3323-3329.
- Ramos JL, D. E., Gallegos MT, Godoy P, Ramos-Gonzalez MI, Rojas A, Teran W, Segura A. 2002. Mechanisms of solvent tolerance in gram-negative bacteria. Annu Rev Microbiol 56:743-768.
- 86. Randall, L. P., and M. J. Woodward. 2002. The multiple antibiotic resistance (mar) locus and its significance. Res Vet Sci 72:87-93.

- 87. Roma-Rodrigues C, S. P., Benndorf D, Rapp E, Sa' -Correia I. 2010. Response of *Pseudomonas putida* KT2440 to phenol at the level of membrane proteome. J Proteomics 73:1461-1478.
- 88. Ru" hl J, H. E.-M., Hayen H, Schmid A, Blank LM. 2012. The glycerophospholipid inventory of Pseudomonas putida is conserved between strains and enables growth condition related alterations. Microbial Biotech 5:45-58.
- Rutherford BJ, D. R., Price RE, Szmidt HL, Benke PI, Mukhopadhyay
 A, Keasling JD. 2010. Functional genomic study of exogenous n-butanol stress in *Escherichia coli*. Appl Environ Microbiol 76:1935-1945.
- Sardessai Y, B. S. 2004. Industrial potential of organic solvent tolerant bacteria. Biotechnol Prog 20:655-660
- Sardessai Y, B. S. 2002. Organic solvent tolerant bacteria in mangrove ecosystem. Curr Sci 82:622–623.
- 92. Segura A, D. E., Hurtado A, Ramos JL. 2001. Mutations in genes involved in the flagellar export apparatus of the solventtolerant *Pseudomonas putida* DOT-T1E strain impair motility and lead to hypersensitivity to toluene shocks. J Bacteriol 183:4127-4133.
- 93. Segura A, G. P., van Dillewijn P, Hurtado A, Arroyo N, Santacruz S, Ramos JL. 2005. Proteomic analysis reveals the participation of energy- and stress-related proteins in the response of *Pseudomonas putida* DOT-T1E to toluene. J Bacteriol 187:5937-5945.
- 94. Shimizu, K., S. Hayashi, N. Doukyu, T. Kobayashi, and H. Honda.

2005. Time-course data analysis of gene expression profiles reveals *purR* regulon concerns in organic solvent tolerance in *Escherichia coli*. J Biosci Bioeng **99**:72-74.

- 95. Shimizu, K., S. Hayashi, T. Kako, M. Suzuki, N. Tsukagoshi, N. Doukyu, T. Kobayashi, and H. Honda. 2005. Discovery of *glpC*, an organic solvent tolerance-related gene in *Escherichia coli*, using gene expression profiles from DNA microarrays. Appl Environ Microbiol 71:1093-1096.
- Sikkema J, d. B. J., Poolman B. 1995. Mechanisms of solvent toxicity of hydrocarbons. Microbiol Rev 59:201–222.
- 97. Sikkema, J., de Bont, J.A.M., and Poolman, B. 1994. Interaction of cyclic hydrocarbons with biological membranes. J Biol Chem 269:8022–8028.
- 98. Sikkema, J., Poolman, B., Konings, W.N., and de Bont, J.A.M. 1992. Effects of the membrane action of tetralin on the functional and structural properties of artificial and bacterial membranes. J Bacteriol 174:2986–2992.
- 99. Smith, D., T. Kassam, B. Singh, and J. Elliott. 1992. Escherichia coli has two homologous glutamate decarboxylase genes that map to distinct loci. J Bacteriol 174:5820-5826.
- 100. Suzuki, Y., N. Doukyu, and R. Aono. 1998. Lithocholic acid side-chain cleavage to produce 17-keto or 22-aldehyde steroids by *Pseudomonas putida* strain ST-491 grown in the presence of organic solvent, diphenyl ether. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 62:2182-2188.

- 101. Tao, F., B. Yu, P. Xu, and C. Ma. 2006. Biodesulfurization in biphasic systems containing organic solvents. Appl Environ Microbiol 72:4604-4609.
- 102. Tsukagoshi N., A. R. 2000. Entry into and release of solvents by Escherichia coli in an organic-aqueous two-liquid-phase system and substrate specificity of the AcrAB-TolC solvent-extruding pump. J Bacteriol 182:4803-4810.
- 103. Volkers RJ, d. J. A., Hulst AG, Van Baar BL, de Bont JA, Wery J. 2006. Chemostat-based proteomic analysis of tolueneaffected *Pseudomonas putida* S12. Environ Microbiol 8:1674-1678.
- 104. Weber, F. J., Isken, S., and de Bont, J.A.M. 1994. Cis/trans isomerization of fatty acids as a defense mechanism of Pseudomonas putida strains to toxic concentrations of toluene. Microbiology 140:2013–2017.
- 105. Wendell, V. K. a. D. 2013. Engineering Bacterial Efflux Pumps for Solar-Powered Bioremediation of Surface Waters. Nano Lett 13:2189–2193.
- 106. Wery, J., D. I. Mendes da Silva, and J. A. de Bont. 2000. A genetically modified solvent-tolerant bacterium for optimized production of a toxic fine chemical. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 54:180-185.
- 107. Wierckx, N., H. Ballerstedt, J. de Bont, and J. Wery. 2005. Engineering of solvent-tolerant *Pseudomonas putida* S12 for bioproduction of phenol from glucose. Appl Environ Microbiol 71:8221-8227.

- 108. Wijte D, v. B. B., Heck AJ, Altelaar AF. 2011. Probing the proteome response to toluene exposure in the solvent tolerant *Pseudomonas putida* S12. J Proteome Res 10:394-403.
- 109. Zahir Z, S. K., Dennis JJ. 2006. Isolation and characterization of novel organic solventtolerant bacteria. Extremophiles 10:129–138
- 110. Zhao Y, H. L., Chuang A, Monroe-Augustus M, Lyristis M, Harrison ML, Rudolph FB, Bennett GN. 2003. Expression of a cloned cyclopropane fatty acid synthase gene reduces solvent formation in *Clostridium acetobutylicum* ATCC 824. Appl Environ Microbiol 69:2831-2841.

Chapter 2

Contributions of mutations in acrR and marR genes to organic solvent tolerance in *Escherichia coli*

2-1 Abstract

A number of solvent-efflux pumps involved in organic solvent tolerance have been identified in *Pseudomonas* spp. and *Escherichia coli*. The AcrAB-TolC efflux pump plays an important role in organic solvent tolerance in *E. coli*. Mutations in regulatory genes such as *marR*, *soxR*, and *acrR* are known to enhance the expression level of the AcrAB-TolC pump. In this study, we identified these mutations in organic solvent tolerant *E. coli*. Eight cyclohexane-tolerant E. coli JA300 mutants were isolated, and mutations in marR, soxR, and acrR in these mutants were examined. Every mutant carried a mutation in either marR or acrR. Among all mutants, strain CH7 carrying a nonsense mutation in *marR* (named *marR109*) and an insertion of IS5 in *acrR*, exhibited the highest organic solvent tolerance levels. To examine the involvement of these mutations in improving organic solvent tolerance, they were introduced into the E. coli JA300 chromosome. Consequently, JA300 mutants carrying *acrR*:IS5, *marR109*, or both were constructed and named JA300 acrRIS, JA300 marR, or JA300 acrRIS marR, respectively. The organic solvent tolerance levels of these mutants were increased in the following order: JA300 < JA300 acrRIS < JA300 marR < JA300 acrRIS marR. JA300 acrRIS marR formed colonies on an agar plate overlaid with cyclohexane and *p*-xylene (6:4 vol/vol mixture). The organic

solvent tolerance level and AcrAB-TolC efflux pump-expression level in JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* were similar to those in CH7. Thus, it was shown that the synergistic effects of mutations in only two regulatory genes (*acrR* and *marR*) can remarkably elevate the level of organic solvent tolerance in *E. coli*.

2-2 Introduction

Whole-cell biocatalysts in two phase systems containing an organic solvent have a broad spectrum of applications for the production of various fine chemicals (14, 36, 37). Two phase systems are employed in order to solubilize reactants and products but also to deal with the problem of toxic substrates and products. In addition, the use of a second organic phase improves productivity levels and product recovery, unlike the case with conventional media whose substrate solubility is poor. One of the main limitations in the application of whole-cell biocatalysts in two-phase systems is the instability of biocatalysts due to the toxicity of organic solvents toward the cells. When microorganisms are incubated in the presence of a large amount of an organic solvent, the extent of growth inhibition is inversely correlated with the log P_{OW} of the solvent (15). Hydrophobic organic solvents with a log P_{OW} of 2 to 5 bind to the cells and disrupt the cell membrane (5, 40).

Various mechanisms underlying microbial tolerance and responses to solvents have been revealed by the genetic, physiological and biochemical characterization of organic solvent tolerant bacteria such as *Pseudomonas* species and *E. coli* mutants (7, 14, 25-27, 33, 38, 39, 41). Until now, more is known about how cells respond to organic solvents, but less about how to develop tolerant strains.

Energy-dependent efflux pumps belonging to the resistance/nodulation/cell division (RND) family (29) are important for the maintenance of solvent tolerance in Gram-negative bacteria (11, 17, 21, 32, 42). In *E. coli*, the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump belonging to the RND family has been shown to provide intrinsic tolerance to organic solvents (42). This pump enhances the release of solvents intracellularly accumulated in E. coli cells. acrAB and tolC are marA/soxS/rob regulon genes (Fig. 1-4) (10). MarA and SoxS proteins are transcriptional activators belonging to the AraC/XylS family (2). These activators control the expression of *marA/soxS/rob* regulon genes. MarA and SoxS are transcriptionally regulated. Transcription of the marRAB is repressed by MarR, whereas it is autoactivated by MarA. soxS transcription is repressed by SoxR and enhanced by the activated form of SoxR after exposure to superoxides or nitric oxide (30). Mutations in *marR* or soxR were suggested to enhance the expression level of the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump (4, 19, 28, 34). In addition, *acrAB* expression is modulated locally by the repressor AcrR (23). Thus, mutations in *acrR* can lead to the enhanced expression of AcrAB. Mutations conferring a multidrug resistance phenotype have been found in the genes marR, soxR, and acrR among clinical and veterinary *E. coli* isolates (13, 16, 19, 44, 45). Some of those studies suggested that organic solvent tolerance is correlated with these mutations in these isolates (19, 44). However, the extent to which these mutations contribute to organic solvent tolerance has not been clarified
because *E. coli* isolates used in these studies had a variety of genetic backgrounds. In addition, the synergistic effects of these mutations on organic solvent tolerance were ambiguous. To clarify the effects of mutations on the tolerance phenotype, it is necessary to reconstruct selected mutations in one type of strains in various combinations.

In this study, we isolated organic solvent tolerant *E. coli* mutants and identified mutations in regulatory genes such as *marR*, *soxR*, and *acrR*. Among these mutants, we selected the one that exhibited the highest organic solvent tolerance and investigated the contributions of each identified mutation to organic solvent tolerance. As a result, it was clarified that the *E. coli* strain can acquire high-level organic solvent tolerance due to mutations in only two regulatory genes (*marR* and *acrR*) by reconstructing these mutations in a parent strain.

2-3 Materials and methods

2-3-1 Materials, media, and culture conditions

The organic solvents used were of the highest quality available (Wako Pure Chemical Industries, Osaka, Japan). The purity of these solvents is more than 98%. The organisms were grown aerobically at 30°C in LBG medium consisting of 1% Bacto Tryptone (Difco Laboratories, Detroit, MI), 0.5% Bacto Yeast Extract (Difco), 1% NaCl, and 0.1% glucose. This medium supplemented with 10 mM MgSO4 (LBGMg medium) (31) was also used. The LBGMg medium was solidified with 1.5% (wt/vol) agar. Ampicillin (50 µg/ml) or kanamycin (50 µg/ml) was added to the medium when necessary. The organisms were also grown in LB medium, which is identical to LBG medium except that glucose is omitted.

2-3-2 Bacterial strains and plasmids

E. coli K-12 derivatives used to evaluate solvent tolerance are summarized in Table 2-1. Strain JW0452, a BW25113-based *acrA*::KmR (kanamycin resistant), was supplied by the National Bio-Resource Project (NIG, Mishima, Japan): *E. coli* (9).

Table 2-1	Bacterial	strains an	dp	lasmids	used
			21222200		

E. coli strain	Genotype	Reference
JA300	F^{-} thr leuB6 trpC1117 thi rpsL20 hsdS	(33)
JA300 acrRIS	Same as JA300, but with <i>acrR</i> ::IS5	This study
JA300 marR	Same as JA300, but with <i>marR109</i>	This study
JA300 <i>acrR</i> IS marR	Same as JA300, but with <i>acrR</i> ::IS5 and <i>marR109</i>	This study
JA300 <i>\acrA</i>	Same as JA300, but with <i>acrA</i> ::Km ^R	This study
JA300⊿acrA acrRIS marR	Same as JA300, but with $acrA$::Km ^R , $acrR$::IS5 and $marR109$	This study
BW25113	$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	(10)
JW0452	Same as BW25113, but with <i>acrA</i> ::Km ^R	(10)

2-3-3 Isolation of cyclohexane-tolerant mutants of E. coli JA300

First, 100 µl of the overnight culture of strain JA300 grown in LBGMg medium was inoculated into 10 ml of fresh LBGMg medium overlaid with 2 ml cyclohexane. The two-phase culture was incubated at 37°C with shaking. Since the growth of cyclohexane-tolerant mutants was observed after 48 h, the aqueous medium phase was spread on LBGMg agar medium. Then, the agar surface was overlaid with a 3-mm-thick layer of cyclohexane. Strains that formed relatively large colonies on the agar after 48 h incubation at 25°C were randomly isolated as cyclohexane-tolerant mutants.

2-3-4 PCR amplification and DNA sequencing of *acrR*, *marR*, and *soxR*

Chromosomal DNA of each bacterial isolate was used as the template for polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplification. PCR was performed using PrimeSTAR® GXL DNA polymerase (Takara Bio, Kyoto, Japan). The primers used for PCR are listed in Table 2-2. The primer combinations used are as follows: acrR-F and acrR-R for the entire *acrR*; marR-F and marR-R for the entire *marR* and the operator region for *marR*, and soxR-F and soxR-R for the entire *soxR*. The PCR products were purified using the QiaQuick PCR purification kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). Direct cycle sequencing in both directions was performed with the same sets of primers.

 ${\bf Table\,2\mathchar`2\mbox{-}2\mbox{-}Primers\,used\,in\,this\,study}$

Sequence (5' to 3')	Positions ^a
AAACCCATTGCTGCGTTTAT	-90 to -71 bp of <i>acrR</i>
AAACCGCAAGAATATCACGA	+711 to +730 bp of $acrR$
CTGTTCATGTTGCCTGCCAG	-321 to -302 bp of <i>marR</i>
CAGTCCAAAATGCTATGAATGG	+482 to +503 bp of $marR$
TTTCTGATGGGACATAAATCTGC C	-100 to -77 bp of <i>soxR</i>
TGTGTTGACGTCGGGGGAAA	+537 to +556 bp of $soxR$
CCAATTTGAAATCGGACACTCG	-32 to -11 bp of <i>acrA</i>
GCATGTCTTAACGGCTCCTG	+1200 to +1219 bp of <i>acrA</i>
GCTTCAGGATAATCCCGCTAACT TGAGGACGAACTTCTGCGATCC GGTAGGGCCTGGTGATGATGGC GGGATCG	-376 to -327 bp of <i>acrR</i> (indicated by italics), and -138 to -115 bp of <i>rpsL</i> in the <i>rpsL-neo</i> cassette (underlined)
GCGATCGATTTTATCGAGGGTGG CTAATGTATCTGTCAGATCCTGC TGCA <u>TCAGAAGAACTCGTCAAG</u> AAGGCG	+974 to +1023 bp of $acrR$ (indicated by italics), and +750 to +773 bp of <i>neo</i> in the $rpsL$ -neo cassette (underlined)
AAACCGATAAACGCGACGATTAA GCCGCCTGCAATTCGCAGACCG GGAATGGCCTGGTGATGATGGC GGGATCG	-477 to -428 bp of $marR$ (indicated by italics), and -138 to -115 bp of $rpsL$ in the $rpsL$ -neo cassette (underlined)
AAGAGAATAAGCGCAGCTGCTA TTGCGGATGAAAGTGGTTTCAT GATTGC <u>TCAGAAGAACTCGTCA</u> AGAAGGCG	+863 to +912 bp of <i>marR</i> (indicated by italics), and +750 to +773 bp of <i>neo</i> in the <i>rpsL-neo</i> cassette (underlined)
TGATCGTACTCTTGCTTACTGAT	-575 to -553 bp of $acrR$
ATCGTTTTGTGCGTTTTGCAAAT	+1202 to +1224 bp of <i>acrR</i>
TTTTCGCCTCCGGTGAATCA	-527 to -508 bp of <i>marR</i>
AACTGGCTGCGTGGTTTGTT	+933 to +952 bp of <i>marR</i>
	Sequence (5' to 3') AAACCCATTGCTGCGTTTAT AAACCGCAAGAATATCACGA CTGTTCATGTTGCCTGCCAG CAGTCCAAAATGCTATGAATGG TTTCTGATGGGACATAAATCTGC C TGTGTTGACGTCGGGGGGAAA CCAATTTGAAATCGGACACTCG GCTTCAGGATAATCCGGCACACTCG GCATGTCTTAACGGCTCCTG GCTTCAGGATAATCCCGCTAACT TGAGGACGAACTTCTGCGATGCC GGGATCG GCCATCGATTTTATCGAGGGTGG CTAATGTATCTGTCAGATCCTGC GCGATCGATTTTATCGAGGGTGG CAATGTAATCTGTCAGATCCTGC GGGATCG AAACCGATAAACGCGAACGATTAA GCCGCCTGCAATTCGCAGATGACG GGAATGGCG AAGAGAATAAGCGCAGCTGCTA TTGCGGATGAAAGTGGTTTCAT GAAGGCG TGATCGTACTCTTGCTTACTGAT AAGAGAATAAGCGCAGCTGCTA TTGCGGATGACTCTTGCTTACTGAT ATCGTTTTGTGCGGTTTTGCAAAT TTTCGCCTCCGGTGAATCA AACTGGCTGCGTGGTTTGTT

 ${}^{\mathrm{a}}\mathrm{The}$ positions of the primers are relative to the start codon of each gene.

2-3-5 Site-directed point mutations in E. coli chromosome

For site-directed mutagenesis, the phage λ -based homologous recombination system (Red/ET counterselection Bac modification kit; GeneBridges, Heidelberg, Germany) was used to introduce an *rpsL-neo* cassette into *acrR* or *marR* of strain JA300 and to subsequently replace the cassette with an appropriate DNA fragment. Linear DNA fragments comprising the *rpsL-neo* cassette for the introduction of the *acrR* and/or marR region were obtained by PCR using the rpsL-neo template DNA (GeneBridges) as the template. The combinations of primers for the introduction of the *rpsL-neo* cassette were as follows: acrR-rpsL-neo-F and acrR-rpsL-neo-R for *acrR*, and marR-rpsL-neo-F and marR-rpsL-neo-R for marR (Table 2-2). These primers contain homology arms consisting of 50 nucleotides upstream and downstream from the targeted region and 24 nucleotides homologous to the *rpsL-neo* cassette. For all amplification, PrimeSTAR HS DNA polymerase (Takara Bio) with high fidelity was used. The *acrR* or *marR* region into which the *rpsL*-neo cassette was introduced was replaced with corresponding DNA fragments containing a mutated gene of *acrR* or *marR* from strain CH7. The DNA fragments for the replacement of the *rpsL-neo* cassette were obtained by PCR using chromosomal DNA prepared from strain CH7 as the template. The combinations of primers for replacement of the *rpsL-neo* cassette are as follows: Repair-acrRIS-F and Repair-acrRIS-R for *acrR*, and Repair-marR-F and Repair-marR-R for *marR*. Transformations of cells by the introduction of linear DNA fragments for recombination were performed by electroporation according to the protocol

recommended by the technical manual of the Bac modification kit (Gene Bridges). Briefly, the *E. coli* strain carrying pRed/ET (Gene Bridges) was cultivated in 1.4 ml of LB medium at 30°C. At an absorbance of 0.3 (600 nm), freshly prepared L-arabinose was added (0.35% wt/vol, final concentration) to the culture inducing *redybalrecA* expression, and expression was continued at 37°C. After 1 h, the cells were harvested by centrifugation, washed with 10% (vol/vol) ice-cold glycerol, and resuspended in a final volume of 30 µl in 10% (vol/vol) ice-cold glycerol. DNA fragments (100 to 200 ng) were then added to the sample. Subsequently, the sample was transferred to electroporation cuvettes, and electroporation was carried out with an Electroporator 2510 (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany) at 1350 V, 10 µF, and 600 Ohms. The cells were immediately removed from the cuvettes by mixing with 1 ml LB medium, and then were incubated at 37°C for 2 h. The cells were plated on LB agar containing the appropriate antibiotics.

Recombination events were confirmed by PCR and DNA sequencing of the *acrR* and *marR* genes. The combinations of primers used are as follows: acrR-F and acrR-R for *acrR*, and marR-F and marR-R for *marR*.

2-3-6 Disruption of acrA in strain JA300 and JA300 acrRIS marR

JA300 $\Delta acrA$ and JA300 $\Delta acrA$ acrRIS marR were constructed by P1 transduction of kanamycin resistance, with strain JW0452 as the donor. Disruption of the gene was confirmed by PCR analysis using chromosomal DNA prepared from JA300 $\Delta acrA$ or JA300 $\Delta acrA$ acrRIS marR as the template. The combination of primers used was acrA-F and acrA-R (Table

2-2). Consistent with the expected values, the size of the amplified product (*acrA*) from JA300 was 1,252 bp, and those from kanamycin-resistance cassette transductants were approximately 1.5 kb.

2-3-7 Measurement of the organic solvent tolerance of E. coli

Cultures of E. coli strains in LBGMg medium (optical density at 660 nm [OD660], 0.4 to 0.6) were diluted with 0.8% saline by serial 10-fold dilutions. Each suspension was plated on LBGMg agar. The agar surface was overlaid with a 3-mm-thick layer of an organic solvent. The approximate frequency at which the cells formed colonies on the agar was estimated after 48 h incubation at 25°C.

2-3-8 Quantitation of organic solvent accumulation in E. coli cells

The organic solvent accumulation in *E. coli* cells was quantitated as described previously (12). An organic solvent was added to a suspension of *E. coli* cells harvested during the late exponential phase of growth (OD660, 1.5 to 2.0). The suspension was centrifuged after incubation with the solvent for 30 min. After separation from the medium layer, the solvent layer was removed by aspiration. The medium was disposed of by decanting. The cell pellet was recovered and suspended in 1.0 ml of 0.9% NaCl-10 mM MgSO₄. A 0.5 ml portion of the suspension was then transferred to an Eppendorf tube, and the remaining portion was kept to measure the protein content. The 0.5 ml cell suspension was extracted with 2.0 ml of CHCl3 by vigorous shaking for 90 min at 25°C in a shaker (Handless shaker SHK-COCK; Asahi Technoglass, Tokyo, Japan). The amount of organic solvent in the CHCl₃ extract was measured using a gas chromatography-mass spectrometry apparatus (GCMS-QP2010 Plus; Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan) with an Rtx®-624 column (30 m by 0.25 mm inside diameter, 1.4 µm film thickness; Restek, PA, USA). The column was eluted with helium gas at a flow rate of 1.69 ml/min. The inlet was set at 150°C, and the oven was programmed as follows: 50°C for 5 min, then increasing by 5°C per minute to 100°C. The total ion chromatogram of an organic solvent was detected with a mass selective detector.

2-3-9 Protein content

Protein content was measured by the method of Lowry et al. (22).

2-3-10 Antibodies against AcrA, AcrB, and TolC

Antibodies against AcrA were obtained as described previously (12). Polyclonal antibodies against AcrB and TolC were raised against synthetic peptides corresponding to regions of AcrB and TolC. These antibodies contained an N-terminal cysteine (C + in the peptides shown below) for the conjugation of keyhole limpet hemocyanin. The peptide sequences were as follows: for anti-AcrB synthetic peptide antibodies, a C+KNEDIEHSHTVDHH (corresponding to residues 1036 to 1049) and a peptide for anti-TolC antibodies, C + ARTTTSNGHNPFRN (corresponding to residues 480 to 493). The conjugated peptides were injected into rabbits, and polyclonal antibodies were purified from serum using a Melon gel immunoglobulin G spin purification kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA). These antibodies were used to detect AcrA, AcrB, and TolC in the immunoblotting analyses of this study.

2-3-11 Immunoblotting analyses

E. coli was grown in LBGMg medium. The cells were harvested during the exponential phase of growth (OD660, 0.6) by centrifugation (5,000 × g for 10 min at 4°C). The cells were suspended in cold 10 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 8.0) and broken by sonication in an icewater bath. Ten micrograms of total cell lysate protein in the supernatant was separated by sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) in а 12.5%separating gel (43). The gels were then transferred to a polyvinylidene difluoride membrane (Immobilon-P; Millipore, Bedford. USA). MA. electrophoretically by the application of 50 V for 30 min in Tris-glycine-methanol buffer (25 mM Tris, 192 mM glycine, 20% [vol/vol] methanol [pH 8.3]). The membrane was blocked overnight at room temperature in Tris-buffered saline (TBS; 0.15% NaCl, 10 mM Tris–HCl, pH 7.4) containing 3% gelatin, washed three times in wash buffer (0.05% Tween 20 in TBS), and hybridized at room temperature with the relevant antibody. The membrane was then probed for 1 h with goat anti-rabbit horseradish peroxidase (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). The bands were visualized by use of an alkaline phosphatase color development kit (Bio-Rad). The AcrA, AcrB, and TolC expression levels were quantified by gel analysis software UN-SCAN-IT (Silk Scientific, Orem, UT, USA).

2-3-12 Antibiotic susceptibility

The minimum inhibitory concentrations (MICs) of various antibiotics were determined by a sequential dilution method (8). LBG medium liquid cultures containing different concentrations of antibiotic and freshly grown 10^3 cells of the tested *E. coli* strain were incubated at 37°C for 16 h. The lowest concentration of antibiotic which completely inhibited growth was defined as the MIC (8)

2-4 Results and discussion

2-4-1 Isolation of cyclohexane-tolerant mutants of E. coli JA300

E. coli K-12 strain JA300 is tolerant to an organic solvent with a log P_{OW} value of more than 4 and is highly sensitive to cyclohexane (log P_{OW} , 3.4) (7). Cyclohexane-tolerant mutants that formed colonies on the LBGMg agar medium overlaid with cyclohexane were isolated from strain JA300. Spontaneous cyclohexane-tolerant mutants from strain JA300 appeared on the LBGMg agar medium overlaid with cyclohexane at a frequency of 1.6 × 10⁻⁶. In the present study, to efficiently isolate mutants with high-level organic solvent tolerance, the parent strain JA300 was precultured in the LBGMg liquid medium overlaid with cyclohexane. The viable cell density in the preculture increased to 2.2×10^5 /ml after 48 h incubation. The preculture was spread on the agar medium, and then the agar surface was overlaid with cyclohexane at a frequency of 5.0×10^{-3} . The organic solvent tolerance at a frequency of 5.0×10^{-3} . The organic solvent tolerance at a frequency of 5.0×10^{-3} . The organic solvent tolerances of about 100 isolates randomly selected were investigated by

measuring colony-forming efficiencies on an agar plate overlaid with cyclohexane. As a result, eight mutants (CH1 to CH8) exhibiting relatively high colony-forming efficiencies on the agar medium with cyclohexane were selected and used in further experiments.

2-4-2 Organic solvent tolerances of the isolated mutants

The organic solvent tolerances of the mutants (CH1 to CH8) were investigated by measuring the colony-forming efficiency of each mutant on an agar plate overlaid with pure cyclohexane, cyclohexane and p-xylene (8:2 vol/vol mixture) and a mixture of cyclohexane and p-xylene (7:3 vol/vol mixture) (Fig. 2-1). p-Xylene (log P_{OW} , 3.1) shows higher toxicity to cells than cyclohexane. All strains formed colonies in all spots on the plate without any solvent. The parent strain JA300 did not form any colony in the presence of cyclohexane and the solvent mixture. All mutants formed colonies in the presence of cyclohexane, although the colony-forming efficiencies differed among the mutants. Strains CH1, CH3, CH4, and CH7 exhibited relatively high organic solvent tolerance in the presence of cyclohexane. Strains CH2, CH5, CH6, and CH8 did not form any colonies in the presence of the solvent mixture. On the other hand, strain CH7 formed colonies even in spots containing 10^3 cells in the presence of the solvent mixture and therefore showed the highest colony-forming efficiency among all isolates.



Fig. 2-1 Organic solvent tolerances of the isolated mutants Colony-forming efficiency of organic solvent-tolerant mutants from *E. coli* JA300 on LBGMg agar medium in the absence of an organic solvent (A) and in the presence of cyclohexane (B), cyclohexane and *p*-xylene (8:2 vol/vol mixture)(C), or cyclohexane and *p*-xylene (7:3 vol/vol mixture) (D).

2-4-3 Identification of mutations in acrR, marR, and soxR

The nucleotide sequences of entire *acrR*, *marR*, and *soxR* genes in organic solvent tolerant mutants were determined by DNA sequencing to identify mutations in these genes. The DNA sequences were analyzed by comparison with those of the JA300 parent strain. These mutations are summarized in Table 2-3. The sequences of *acrR*, *marR*, and *soxR* genes in strain JA300 were identical to those present in the E. coli K-12 strain MG1655 genome in GenBank (accession number NC_000913.2). deposited In fluoroquinolone-resistant clinical and veterinary isolates of *E. coli*, a number of mutations were found in *soxR* as well as *marR* and *acrR* (19, 44, 45). None of the mutants carried a mutation in soxR. Seven of the eight cyclohexane-tolerant mutants carried four different mutations in marR. Among these seven *marR* mutants, three mutants (CH1, CH3, and CH4) had point mutations causing an amino acid substitution. These mutations were G116C (CH1), L78M (CH3), and R94L (CH4). Four strains (CH5, CH6, CH7, and CH8) had the same mutation, which would cause premature termination of the *marR* translation. This was caused by a nonsense codon (E109 \rightarrow TAA stop). This mutation was named *marR109*. These MarR mutations lie within the region spanning amino acids 61 to 121 in MarR, which are required for DNA binding activity (3). The L78 and R94 residues are highly conserved amino acids in many homologs, although the amino acid at the position of G116 is not conserved (3). The marR109 mutation led to the truncation of 35C-terminal amino acids in MarR. A previous study showed that the C-terminal region contributes to dimer formation (24). In any case, the MarR mutations found in the present study are considered to lead to the loss of repressive function. Three mutants (CH1, CH2, and CH7) carried mutations in acrR. Strain CH2 had a mutation only in acrR. This mutation was found in the translation initiation codon (M1I). The mutation in the translation initiation codon (M1I) will cause the complete inhibition of AcrR translation. The other two mutants (CH1 and CH7) each carried mutations in both marR and acrR. Strain CH1 had a point mutation altering one amino acid residue (A41D) in *acrR*. The A41 residue positioned within the helical region (a3) forms part of a typical helix-turn-helix motif involved in DNA binding (20). Thus, the A41D mutation will abolish AcrR's repressive activity. Strain CH7 contained an 1195-bp insertion sequence (IS5) (35) integrated within *acrR* (Fig. 2-2). This sequence was inserted at 220 bp downstream from the

initiation codon of the *acrR* gene, accompanied by the doubling of the tetramer CTAG. The *ins5A* promoter was oriented in the same direction as the acrAB operon. The alteration of organic solvent tolerances of several *E. coli* mutants by IS integration has been reported. *E. coli* OST4251 became sensitive to n-hexane because IS2 and IS5 became integrated upstream from the *implostA* gene, which is involved in organic solvent sensitivity (1). The hypersensitivity of an *E. coli acrB* disruptant to organic solvents was suppressed by the integrational activation of the *acrEF* operon with an IS1 or IS2 element (18).

strain	mari	R	acrR		soxR	
	DNA positiona (Codon substitution)	Amino acid substitution	DNA positiona (Codon substitution)	Amino acid substitution	DNA positiona (Codon substitution)	Amino acid substitution
CH1	346 (<u>G</u> GC→ <u>T</u> GC)	G116C	$122 \ (G\underline{C}T \rightarrow G\underline{A}T)$	A41D		None
CH2		None	$3 (AT\underline{G} \rightarrow AT\underline{A})$	M1I		None
CH3	232 (<u>C</u> TG→ <u>A</u> TG)	L78M		None		None
CH4	281 (C <u>G</u> C→C <u>T</u> C)	R94L		None		None
CH5	325 (<u>G</u> AA→ <u>T</u> AA)	E109→TAA stop		None		None
CH6	325 (<u>G</u> AA→ <u>T</u> AA)	E109→TAA stop		None		None
CH7	325 (<u>G</u> AA→ <u>T</u> AA)	E109→TAA stop	220	Insertion of IS5		None
CH8	325 (<u>G</u> AA→ <u>T</u> AA)	E109→TAA stop		None		None

Table 2-3 Mutations in marR and acrR of cyclohexane-tolerant E. colimutants

^aDNA positions of the mutations are relative to the start codon of each gene.

76

IS5 -290 ctcaagctctagttcaccaatattggattctgacagttcccagatctcactgaacaaatc -230 cgacttgtctttaaaatgccagtagattgcaccgcgcgtaacgccagctgcttttgcaat -170 ctcgcccagcgaggtggatgataccccctgctgtgagaaaagacgtagagccacatcgag marbox -110 gatgtgttggcgcgtttcttgcgcttct<u>tgtttggtttttcgtgc</u>catatgttcgtgaat \leftarrow acrR -10 -35 +1-50 ttacaggcgttaga<u>tttaca</u>tacatttgtgaatgtat<u>gtaccat</u>agcacgAcgataatat RBS +11 aaacgcagcaatgggtttattaacttttgaccattgaccaatttgaaatcggacactcga gqtttacatatqaacaaaaacagagggtttacgcctctggcggtcgttctgatgctctca +71 $acrA \rightarrow$

Fig. 2-2 Nucleotide sequence of the *acrAB* regulatory region.

The transcription initiation site (+1) of the *acrAB* operon is capitalized and indicated by a bent arrow. The CTAG IS5 target site, the putative ribosome binding site (RBG) for *acrA*, and the ATG start codons for *acrR* and *acrAB* are shaded. The promoter regions (-10 and -35) and marbox are underlined. The bold arrow above the sequence indicates the insertion site of IS5.

2-4-4 Organic solvent tolerances of mutants carrying mutations in *marR* and/or *acrR* derived from strain CH7

Strain CH7 had a nonsense mutation in *marR* and an insertion of IS5 in acrR. To clarify the involvement of these mutations in organic solvent tolerance, the *marR* and/or *acrR* regions were introduced into the *E. coli* JA300 chromosome by site-directed mutagenesis using λ red-mediated homologous recombination. Consequently, JA300 mutants carrying *acrR*:IS5, marR109, or both mutations were constructed and named JA300 acrRIS, JA300 marR, or JA300 acrRIS marR, respectively. The colony-forming efficiencies of these constructed mutants in the presence of organic solvents were compared with those of the parent strain JA300 and strain CH7 (Fig. 2-3). All strains formed colonies in all spots on the plate without any solvent. The parent strain JA300 formed colonies in the spots containing 10⁵-10⁶ cells in the presence of *n*-hexane ($\log P_{OW}$, 3.9). However, strain JA300 hardly formed colonies on the plate overlaid with pure cyclohexane and did not form any colony on the plate with cyclohexane and *p*-xylene (6:4 mixture). In contrast, the colony-forming efficiencies of the constructed mutants in the presence of the organic solvents were increased in the following order: JA300 acrRIS < JA300 marR < JA300 acrRIS marR. JA300 acrRIS marR exhibited about 10²⁻ and 10⁴-fold higher colony-forming efficiencies than those of JA300 *acrR*IS and JA300 *marR*, respectively, in the presence of cyclohexane. JA300 *acrR*IS and JA300 *marR* did not form any colony on the plate overlaid with the solvent mixture, although JA300 acrRIS marR formed colonies in spots containing 10⁵-10⁶ cells in the presence of the solvent mixture. JA300

acrRIS marR showed similar colony-forming efficiencies as strain CH7 in the presence of the solvents tested. The cell growth of JA300, JA300 acrRIS marR, and CH7 in the LBGMg liquid medium in the presence of *n*-hexane or cyclohexane was also examined by measuring turbidity (Fig. 2-4). No significant difference was found between the growth of these strains in the absence of organic solvents. The growth of JA300 was highly suppressed by the addition of organic solvents. In contrast, JA300 acrRIS marR and CH7 were able to grow in the presence of these solvents, although the growth rates and yields of these strains were partially reduced by the addition of these solvents as compared to that without any solvent.

Organic solvent tolerance levels of various mutants and recombinants from strain JA300 have been investigated by measuring the colony-forming efficiencies of mutants on an LBGMg agar plate overlaid with organic solvents. Overexpression of the marA gene has been shown to raise the organic solvent tolerance of *E. coli* (8, 39). JA300 overexpressing the marA gene formed colonies in spots containing more than 10⁶ cells in the presence of cyclohexane (39). In addition, it was reported that the organic solvent tolerance of strain JA300 significantly improved the double disruptions of marR and proV(12). JA300 Δ proV Δ marR formed colonies in spots containing more than 10⁵ cells in the presence of cyclohexane and thus exhibited higher organic solvent tolerance levels than JA300 overexpressing the marA gene. In the present study, JA300 acrRIS marR showed 10⁴-fold higher colony-forming efficiencies in the presence of cyclohexane than JA300 Δ proV Δ marR.





and/or acrR derived from strain CH7

Colony-forming efficiency of acrR and/or marR mutants on the agar medium in the absence of an organic solvent (A) and in the presence of *n*-hexane (B), cyclohexane (C), or cyclohexane and *p*-xylene (6:4 vol/vol mixture) (D).



Fig. 2-4 Growth of *E. coli* JA300, JA300 *acrR*IS *marR*, and CH7 in LBGMg liquid medium Growth of strains in the absence of an organic solvent (A) and in the presence of *n* hexane (B) and cyclohexane (C). A 100-µl culture of overnight-grown *E. coli* strain was inoculated to 10 ml of fresh LBGMg liquid medium overlaid with an organic solvent. This two-phase culture was incubated at 30° C. Growth was monitored by measuring turbidity (OD₆₆₀). Values indicate means of results and standard deviations of results from three independent experiments. Symbols: (\triangle) JA300; (\bigcirc) JA300 *acrR*IS *marR*, (\bigcirc) CH7.

2-4-5 AcrA, AcrB, and TolC levels in organic solvent tolerant mutants

Mutations in *marR* can increase the expression levels of AcrAB and TolC proteins, which are components of the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump (10). In addition, mutations in *acrR* can enhance the expression of AcrAB (23, 45). Levels of AcrA, AcrB, and TolC in JA300, CH7, JA300 *acrR*IS, JA300 *marR*, and JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* were investigated by immunoblotting analysis (Fig. 2-5). Both the AcrA and AcrB levels in JA300 *acrR*IS were about threefold higher than those in JA300. However, the TolC level in JA300 *acrR*IS was similar to that in JA300. The levels of AcrA, AcrB, and TolC in JA300 *acrR*IS marR exhibited higher expression levels of AcrA and AcrB compared to those of JA300 *acrR*IS and JA300 *marR*, but the TolC level in JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* was similar to that in JA300 *marR*. The levels in JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* was similar to that in JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* was similar to that in JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* was similar to those of AcrA and AcrB compared to those of JA300 *acrR*IS and JA300 *marR*. The levels of these three proteins in JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* were similar to those in strain CH7. These results suggested that the improved organic solvent tolerance in JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* and CH7 was a result of enhanced solvent-efflux activity by the overexpressed AcrAB-TolC pump.



Fig. 2-5 Western blot analysis of AcrA, AcrB, and TolC expression Total cell lysate proteins of JA300 (lane 1), CH7 (lane 2), JA300 *acrR*IS (lane 3), JA300 *marR* (lane 4), and JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* (lane 5) were separated by sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and probed with polyclonal anti-AcrA, AcrB, and TolC antibodies, respectively. The expression ratio compared to the AcrA level of JA300 is shown below each lane.

2-4-6 Organic solvent tolerance of acrA-disruptant

Since the marR109 mutation can influence the expression levels of many mar regulon genes, including acrAB and tolC (10), it was possible that mar regulon genes other than acrAB and tolC could be involved in the improved organic solvent tolerance in JA300 acrRIS marR. To clarify the extent to which the AcrAB-TolC pump contributed to organic solvent tolerance in JA300 acrRIS marR, a JA300 acrRIS marR-based acrA-disruptant, JA300 Δ acrA acrRIS marR, was constructed and then the organic solvent tolerance of this acrA-disruptant was compared to that of JA300 Δ acrA (Figure 2-6). The organic solvent tolerance of JA300 Δ acrA was similar to that of the previously reported JA300-based acrAB disruptant (42). JA300 was tolerant to nonane (log P ow, 5.5) and octane (log P ow, 4.9). In contrast, JA300 Δ acrA acrRIS marR became sensitive to these solvents. The tolerance level of JA300 Δ acrA acrRIS marR was similar to that of JA300 Δ acrA.



Fig. 2-6 Organic solvent tolerances of *acrA*-disruptant

Colony-forming efficiency of *acrA* disruptants of JA300 and JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* on LBGMg agar medium in the absence of an organic solvent (A) and in the presence of decane (B), nonane (C), or octane (D). Each strain was spotted at a tenfold.

2-4-7 Accumulation of an organic solvent in *E. coli* incubated in a two-phase culture system

It has been reported that organic solvent tolerant *E. coli* strains in a two-phase culture system maintained low intracellular levels of organic solvents (12, 39, 42). The amounts of *n*-heptane (log P_{OW} , 4.2), *n*-hexane (logP_{OW}, 3.9), or cyclohexane ($\log P_{OW}$, 3.4) accumulated in *E. coli* cells were investigated (Table 2-3). E. coli cells of JA300, CH7, JA300 acrRIS, JA300 marR, or JA300 acrRIS marR were incubated for 30 min in the presence of organic solvents. The intracellular solvent levels of JA300 acrRIS and JA300 marR were similar to or slightly lower than those of the JA300 parent strain. On the other hand, the intracellular solvent levels of CH7 and JA300 acrRIS marR were remarkably lower than those of the JA300 parent strain. The amounts of *n*-heptane, *n*-hexane, and cyclohexane in CH7 were 6%, 20%, and 30% of those for JA300, respectively. On the other hand, the amounts of *n*-heptane, *n*-hexane, and cyclohexane in JA300*acrR*IS *marR* were 2%, 19%, and 22% of those for JA300, respectively. Thus, the intracellular amounts of organic solvents in JA300 acrRIS marR exhibited levels similar to those in CH7.

Strain	Intracellular amount (mmol/mg of protein) of a:			
	<i>n</i> Heptane	<i>n</i> -Hexane	Cyclohexane	
JA300	0.060 ± 0.002	0.54 ± 0.01	1.3 ± 0.1	
JA300 acrRIS	0.051 ± 0.037	ND^b	1.2 ± 0.1	
JA300 marR	0.049 ± 0.010	ND^b	1.0 ± 0.1	
JA300 acrRIS marR	0.0010 ± 0.0006	0.10 ± 0.01	0.29 ± 0.01	
CH7	0.0033 ± 0.0002	0.11 ± 0.01	0.39 ± 0.01	

Table 2-3 Accumulation of organic solvents in E. colicells in a two-phase system

^a*E. coli* strains grown in LBGMg medium were exposed to organic solvents in the two-phase system and incubated for 30 min as described in Materials and Methods. Values indicate means of results and standard deviations of results from three independent experiments.

^bND, not determined.

2-4-8 Antibiotic tolerances of organic solvent tolerant mutants

Organic solvent tolerant mutants from *E. coli* were frequently tolerant to antibiotics including fluoroquinolone and hydrophobic antibiotics (19, 44). Thus, antibiotic tolerances of JA300, CH7, JA300 acrRIS, JA300 marR and JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* were investigated by assessing MICs of various antibiotics such as novobiocin, nalidixic acid, chloramphenicol, ofloxacin, and enoxacin (Table 2-4). JA300 *acrR*IS showed twofold increased MICs only against nalidixic acid and chloramphenicol as compared to JA300. This result suggested that increased expression of AcrAB lacking TolC in JA300 *acrR*IS seemed to confer low-level antibiotic tolerance on JA300 *acrR*IS. JA300 marR exhibited twofold increased MICs of novobiocin, nalidixic acid, chloramphenicol and ofloxacin as compared to JA300 but not show increased MICs of enoxacin. Both CH7 and JA300 *acrRIS marR* equally exhibited twoto four-fold increased MICs of all antibiotics as compared to JA300. Moreover, these two mutants also equally displayed higher antibiotic tolerance than JA300 acrRIS and JA300 marR. These results corresponded to levels of organic solvent tolerance and AcrAB-TolC efflux pump-expression in these strains.

Many fluoroquinolone-resistant clinical *E. coli* isolates displayed more than tenfold higher MICs of antibiotics such as nalidixic acid and chloramphenicol than JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* and CH7 (19, 44). These clinical isolates carried mutations causing not only overexpression of AcrAB-TolC efflux pump but also alternations in drug targets (e.g., DNA gyrase or topoisomerase IV). It was interesting that these clinical isolates showing

88

higher antibiotics-resistance than JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* and CH7 were more sensitive to organic solvents than JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* and CH7 (44).

•

Strain	MIC (mg/ml) for:				
	NOV	NAL	CHL	OFL	ENO
JA300	200	3.1	3.1	0.078	0.31
JA300 acrRIS	200	6.3	6.3	0.078	0.31
JA300 marR	400	6.3	6.3	0.16	0.31
JA300 acrRIS marR	800	12.5	12.5	0.31	0.63
CH7	800	12.5	12.5	0.31	0.63

Table 2-4 Antibiotic tolerance of organic solvent-tolerant E. coli mutants

Abbreviations: NOV, Novobiocin; NAL, Nalidixic acid; CHL, Chloramphenicol; OFL, Ofloxacin; ENO, Enoxacin.

2-5 Conclusions

In the present study, we isolated cyclohexane-tolerant mutants from cyclohexane-sensitive *E. coli* K-12 strain JA300 and investigated whether or not these mutants carried mutations in regulatory genes marR, soxR, and acrR. Most of the mutants carried mutations in marR. Three of the seven mutations found in marR caused amino acid substitutions in MarR at the amino acid positions of L78, R94, and G116, and four of the seven mutations led to a translation termination codon at the position of E109 (marR109 mutation). Three mutants isolated in this study carried different mutations in *acrR*. Two mutations in *acrR* caused amino acid substitutions in AcrR at the amino acid positions of M1 and A41. Many IS elements have been shown to activate or inactivate the expression of neighboring genes. In strain CH7, the IS5 inserted within *acrR* seemed to activate the expression of *acrAB* through the disruption of transcriptional repression by AcrR. However, there was no mutation in soxR in cyclohexane-tolerant mutants. Two mutants (CH1 and CH7) carried mutations in both *marR* and *acrR*. These mutants exhibited higher organic solvent tolerances than other isolates (Fig. 2-1). In particular, strain CH7 containing *marR*109 and *acrR*:IS showed the highest organic solvent tolerance among all isolates.

It was possible that unidentified mutations other than *marR109* and *acrR*::IS5 might influence organic solvent tolerance in strain CH7. To clarify the effect of the *marR109* and/or *acrR*::IS5 mutations on organic solvent tolerance in *E. coli*, JA300 *acrR*IS, JA300 *marR*, and JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* were constructed. A comparison of the tolerances in these mutants and in

strain CH7 revealed that the improved organic solvent tolerance in strain CH7 was caused by a synergistic effect of the double mutations of *marR* and *acrR*.

The AcrAB-TolC efflux pump is involved in organic solvent tolerance in *E*. coli (42). The order of organic solvent tolerances of JA300 acrRIS, JA300 marR, and JA300 acrRIS marR was comparable to the order of the expression levels of AcrAB and TolC (Fig. 2-3 and 2-5). The expression levels of AcrA and AcrB proteins in JA300 *acrR*IS were similar to, or slightly higher than, the levels in JA300 marR. However, the extent of improvement in organic solvent tolerance in JA300 *acrR*IS was lower than that in JA300 marR because the disruption of acrR did not influence the expression level of TolC. JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* and CH7 equally enhanced the expression levels of AcrAB and TolC compared to JA300 *acrR*IS and JA300 *marR*. In addition, the intracellular solvent levels of JA300 acrRIS marR and CH7 were similarly kept lower than those of JA300 acrRIS, JA300 marR, and JA300. These results suggested that the improved organic solvent tolerance in JA300 acrRIS marR and CH7 was a result of enhanced solvent-efflux activity by the overexpressed AcrAB-TolC pump. To clarify the contribution of the AcrAB-TolC pump to organic solvent tolerance in JA300 acrRIS marR, an *acrA*-disruptant (JA300 Δ *acrA acrR*IS *marR*) was constructed and its organic solvent tolerance was compared to that of $JA300\Delta acrA$ (Fig. 2-6). JA300 $\Delta acrA$ acrRIS marR became as sensitive to organic solvents as $JA300\Delta acrA$. This result indicated that the AcrAB-TolC pump is essential for JA300 acrRIS marR to acquire high-level organic solvent tolerance. In

addition, it suggested that the mar regulon genes other than *acrAB* and *tolC* are barely involved in organic solvent tolerance in JA300 *acrR*IS *marR*.

Organic solvent tolerant *E. coli* mutants are known to exhibit resistance to a variety of antibiotics (6, 8). Therefore, the antibiotic tolerances of JA300 acrRIS, JA300 marR, JA300 acrRIS marR and strain CH7 were examined (Table 2-4). JA300 acrRIS showed the increased tolerance only against nalidixic acid and chloramphenicol. JA300 marR exhibited the tolerance against a wider range of antibiotics than JA300 *acrR*IS. Moreover, JA300 acrRIS marR and strain CH7 equally displayed higher antibiotic tolerance than JA300 acrRIS and JA300 marR. These results corresponded to levels of organic solvent tolerance and AcrAB-TolC efflux pump-expression in these strains. It has been reported that many fluoroquinolone-resistant clinical E. *coli* isolates displayed more than tenfold higher MICs of antibiotics such as nalidixic acid and chloramphenicol than JA300 acrRIS marR and CH7 (19, 44). However, these clinical isolates are more sensitive to organic solvents than JA300 acrRIS marR and CH7, although these show higher antibiotics resistance than JA300 acrRIS marR and CH7 (44). These results suggested that these clinical isolates carried mutations causing not only overexpression of AcrAB-TolC efflux pump but also alternations in drug targets.

In this study, it was clarified that only two mutations in regulatory genes in *acrR* and *marR* confer high-level organic solvent tolerance on *E. coli*. Owing to the wealth of genetic and metabolic knowledge associated with *E. coli*, organic solvent tolerant *E. coli* can be a convenient and efficient catalyst when it is used as a host expressing enzymes that are useful for producing valuable chemicals in two-phase systems employing organic solvents. The present findings are expected to provide valuable knowledge for increasing organic solvent tolerance levels in *E. coli* to improve the usability of whole-cell biocatalysts in two-phase systems.

2-6 References

- Abe S, O. T., Nakajima H, Kakuda N, Ohtsu I, Aono R. 2003. n-Hexane sensitivity of *Escherichia coli* due to low expression of *imp/ostA* encoding an 87 kDa minor protein associated with the outer membrane. Microbiology 149:1265–1273.
- Alekshun MN, L. S. 1997. Regulation of chromosomally mediated multiple antibiotic resistance: the mar regulon. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 41:2067-2075.
- Alekshun MN, L. S., Mealy TR, Seaton BA, Head JF. 2001. The crystal structure of MarR, a regulator of multiple antibiotic resistance, at 2.3 Å resolution. Nat Struct Biol 8:710–714.
- Aono, R. 1998. Improvement of organic solvent tolerance level of Escherichia coli by overexpression of stress-responsive genes. Extremophiles 2:239-248.
- Aono R, K. H., Joblin KN, Horikoshi K. 1994. Effects of organic solvents on growth of Escherichia coli K-12. Biosci Biotechnol Boichem 58:2009–2014.
- 6. Aono, R., M. Kobayashi, H. Nakajima, and H. Kobayashi. 1995. A close correlation between improvement of organic solvent tolerance levels and alteration of resistance toward low levels of multiple antibiotics in *Escherichia coli*. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 59:213-218.
- 7. Aono R, T. N., Yamamoto M. 1998. Involvement of outer membrane protein TolC, a possible member of the mar-sox regulon, in maintenance and improvement of organic solvent tolerance of

Escherichia coli K-12. J Bacteriol 180:938-944.

- Asako, H., H. Nakajima, K. Kobayashi, M. Kobayashi, and R. Aono. 1997. Organic solvent tolerance and antibiotic resistance increased by overexpression of marA in *Escherichia coli*. Appl Environ Microbiol 63:1428-1433.
- Baba T, A. T., Hasegawa M, Takai Y, Okumura Y, Baba M, Datsenko K, Tomita M, Wanner B, Mori H. 2006. Construction of Escherichia coli K-12 in-frame, single-gene knockout mutants: the Keio collection. Mol Syst Biol 2:2006–2008.
- Barbosa TM, L. S. 2000. Differential expression of over 60 chromosomal genes in Escherichia coli by constitutive expression of MarA. J Bacteriol 182:3467-3474.
- D G White, J. D. G., B Demple and S B Levy. 1997. Role of the acrAB Locus in Organic Solvent Tolerance Mediated by Expression of marA, soxS, or robA in *Escherichia coli*. American Society for Microbiology 179:6122–6126.
- Doukyu N, I. K., Watanabe R, Ogino H. 2012. Improvement in organic solvent tolerance by double disruptions of *proV* and *marR* genes in *Escherichia coli*. J Appl Microbiol 112:464–474.
- Fernandes P, F. B., Cabral JM. 2003. Solvent tolerance in bacteria: role of efflux pumps and cross-resistance with antibiotics. Int J Antimicrob Agents 22:211–216.
- 14. Heipieper HJ, N. G., Cornelissen S, Meinhardt F. 2007. Solvent-tolerant bacteria for biotransformations in two-phase
fermentation systems. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 74:961-973.

- 15. Inoue A, H. K. 1989. A Pseudomonas putida thrives in high concentrations of toluene. Nature **338**:264–266
- Karczmarczyk M, M. M., Quinn T, Leonard N, Fanning S. 2011. Mechanisms of fluoroquinolone resistance in *Escherichia coli* isolates from food-producing animals. Appl Environ Microbiol 77:7113-7120.
- 17. Kieboom, J., J. Dennis, J. de Bont, and G. Zylstra. 1998. Identification and molecular characterization of an efflux pump involved in *Pseudomonas putida* S12 solvent tolerance. J Biol Chem 273:85-91.
- Kobayashi, K., N. Tsukagoshi, and R. Aono. 2003. Suppression of hypersensitivity of *Escherichia coli acrB* mutant to organic solvents by integrational activation of the *acrEF* operon with the IS1 or IS2 element. J Bacteriol 183:2646–2653.
- Komp Lindgren, P., A. Karlsson, and D. Hughes. 2003. Mutation rate and evolution of fluoroquinolone resistance in *Escherichia coli* isolates from patients with urinary tract infections. . Antimicrob Agents Chemother 47:3222-3232.
- Li M, G. R., Su CC, Routh MD, Harris KC, Jewell ES, McDermott G, Yu E. 2007. Crystal structure of the transcriptional regulator AcrR from *Escherichia coli*. J Mol Biol 374:591–603.
- Li, X.-Z., Z. Li, and K. Poole. 1998. Role of the multidrug efflux systems of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in organic solvent tolerance. J Bacteriol 180:2987-2991.
- 22. Lowry OH, R. N., Farr AL, Randall RJ. 1951. Protein measurement

with the folin phenol reagent. J Biol Chem 193:265-275.

- 23. Ma, D., M. Alberti, C. Lynch, H. Nikaido, and J. E. Hearst. 1996. The local repressor AcrR plays a modulating role in the regulation of *acrAB* genes of *Escherichia coli* by global stress signals. Mol. Microbiol 19:101-112.
- 24. Notka F, L. H., Dankesreiter A, Niller HH, Lehn N. 2002. A C-terminal 18 amino acid deletion in MarR in a clinical isolate of *Escherichia coli* reduces MarR binding properties and increases the MIC of ciprofloxacin. J Antimicrob Chemother 49:41–47.
- 25. Okochi, M., K. Kanie, M. Kurimoto, M. Yohda, and H. Honda. 2008. Overexpression of prefoldin from the hyperthermophilic archaeum *Pyrococcus horikoshii* OT3 endowed *Escherichia coli* with organic solvent tolerance. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol **79**:443-449.
- Okochi, M., M. Kurimoto, K. Shimizu, and H. Honda. 2008. Effect of global transcriptional regulators related to carbohydrate metabolism on organic solvent tolerance in *Escherichia coli*. J Biosci Bioeng 105:389-394.
- Okochi, M., M. Kurimoto, K. Shimizu, and H. Honda. 2007. Increase of organic solvent tolerance by overexpression of *manXYZ* in *Escherichia coli*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 73:1394-1399.
- 28. Okusu, H., D. Ma, and H. Nikaido. 1996. AcrAB efflux pump plays a major role in the antibiotic resistance phenotype of *Escherichia coli* multiple-antibiotic-resistance (Mar) mutants. J Bacteriol 178:306-308.
- 29. Paulsen I, B. M., Skurray R. 1996. Proton-dependent multidrug efflux

systems. Microbiol Rev 60:575–608.

- Pomposiello, P. J., and B. Demple. 2001. Redox-operated genetic switches: the SoxR and OxyR transcription factors. Trends Biotechnol 19:109-114.
- R. Aono, K. A., A. Inoue, K. Horikoshi. 1991. Preparation of organic solvent-tolerant mutants from E. coli K-12. Agric. Biol. Chem. 55:1935–1938.
- 32. Ramos, J., E. Duque, P. Godoy, and A. Segura. 1998. Efflux pumps involved in toluene tolerance in *Pseudomonas putida* DOT-T1E. J Bacteriol 180:3323-3329.
- 33. Ramos JL, D. E., Gallegos MT, Godoy P, Ramos-Gonzalez MI, Rojas A, Teran W, Segura A. 2002. Mechanisms of solvent tolerance in gram-negative bacteria. Annu Rev Microbiol 56:743-768.
- 34. Randall, L. P., and M. J. Woodward. 2002. The multiple antibiotic resistance (mar) locus and its significance. Res Vet Sci **72**:87-93.
- RG, S. 2005. Transcript analysis of *Escherichia coli* K-12 insertion element IS5. FEMS Microbiol Lett 244:397–401.
- Sardessai Y, B. S. 2004. Industrial potential of organic solvent tolerant bacteria. Biotechnol Prog 20:655-660
- 37. Schmid A, K. A., Mathys RG, Witholt B. 1998. Developments toward large-scale bacterial bioprocesses in the presence of bulk amounts of organic solvents. Extremophiles **2**:249–256.
- Segura A, M. L., Fillet S, Krell T, Bernal P, Muñoz-Rojas J, Ramos JL.
 2012. Solvent tolerance in gram-negative bacteria. Curr Opin

Biotechnol 23:415–421.

- 39. Shimizu, K., S. Hayashi, T. Kako, M. Suzuki, N. Tsukagoshi, N. Doukyu, T. Kobayashi, and H. Honda. 2005. Discovery of *glpC*, an organic solvent tolerance-related gene in *Escherichia coli*, using gene expression profiles from DNA microarrays. Appl Environ Microbiol 71:1093-1096.
- Sikkema, J., de Bont, J.A.M., and Poolman, B. 1994. Interaction of cyclic hydrocarbons with biological membranes. J Biol Chem 269:8022–8028.
- 41. Torres S, P. A., Castro GR. 2011. Organic solvent adaptation of gram positive bacteria: applications and biotechnological potentials. Biotechnol Adv 29:442-452.
- 42. **Tsukagoshi N., A. R.** 2000. Entry into and release of solvents by Escherichia coli in an organic-aqueous two-liquid-phase system and substrate specificity of the AcrAB-TolC solvent-extruding pump. J Bacteriol **182**:4803-4810.
- U, L. 1970. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature 227:680–685.
- Wang H, D.-F. J., Chen M, Levy SB. 2001. Genetic characterization of highly fluoroquinolone-resistant clinical *Escherichia coli* strains from China: role of *acrR* mutations. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 45:1515–1521.
- 45. Webber MA, P. L. 2001. Absence of mutations in *marRAB* or *soxRS* in acrB-overexpressing fluoroquinolone-resistant clinical and veterinary

isolates of *Escherichia coli*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother **45**:1550–1552.

Chapter 3

Improvement of organic solvent tolerance by disruption of the *lon* gene in *Escherichia coli*

3-1 Abstract

The Lon is an ATP-dependent protease belonging to the AAA+ (<u>A</u>TPases associated with a variety of cellular <u>activities</u>) superfamily of enzymes. The Lon plays an important role in regulating many biological processes in bacteria. In the present study, we investigated the organic solvent tolerance of a *lon* mutant of *Escherichia coli* K-12 and found that the mutant showed significantly higher organic solvent tolerance than the parent strain. *lon* mutants are known to overproduce capsular polysaccharide and concomitantly form mucoid colonies. Thus, it was possible that this increase in capsular polysaccharide production might be involved in the organic double-gene mutant displaying a nonmucoid phenotype was as tolerant to organic solvents as the oplus lon mutant. This result indicated that capsular polysaccharide is not involved in organic solvent tolerance. On the other hand, the Lon protease is known to cause rapid turnover of MarA and SoxS, which can enhance the expression level of the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump. We found that the *lon* mutant showed a higher expression level of AcrB than the parent strain. In addition, the $riangle lon \ riangle acr B$ double-gene mutant showed a significant decrease in organic solvent tolerance. Thus, it was indicated that organic solvent tolerance in the riangle lon mutant depends on the AcrAB-TolC pump but not capsular polysaccharide. As described in the

102

previous chapter, we constructed *E. coli* strain JA300 *acrR*IS *marR*. This *E. coli* mutant overexpresses the AcrAB-TolC pump and exhibits high-level solvent tolerance. In an attempt to further improve the solvent tolerance of JA300 *acrR*IS *marR*, a *lon* gene disruptant of this strain was constructed. However, the resulting mutant JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* \triangle *lon* showed lower solvent tolerance than JA300 *acrR*IS *marR*. In addition, we examined antibiotic susceptibilities of the \triangle *lon* mutant. The \triangle *lon* mutant did not exhibit a remarkable multidrug resistance-phenotype.

3-2 Introduction

Many attempts have been made to produce valuable compounds through the bioconversion of hydrophobic and/or toxic organic compounds in two-phase systems consisting of a hydrophobic organic solvent and an aqueous medium (13, 14, 29, 30). In addition, increasing attention has been paid to microbial production of hydrophobic biofuels such as long-chain alcohols and fatty acid-based fuels from renewable biomass resources (7, 17, 26). In a two-phase culture system containing a large amount of a hydrophobic organic solvent, the extent of bacterial growth inhibition is inversely correlated with the log P_{OW} of the solvent (15). Organic solvents with a log P_{OW} of 2 to 5 intercalate into the cell membrane and disrupt the integrity of the membrane, thereby affecting several vital functions, such as membrane transport and energy generation (4, 33).

Various mechanisms related to microbial tolerance and response to solvents have been proposed for *Pseudomonas* species and *E. coli* strains (3,

11, 13, 21-24, 28, 31, 32, 36, 42). In *E. coli*, the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump belonging to the resistance/nodulation/cell division (RND) family has been shown to provide intrinsic tolerance to organic solvents (38). *acrAB* and *tolC* are *marA/soxS/rob* regulon genes (9). The *acrAB* and *tolC* expression is activated by transcriptional activators such as MarA and SoxS proteins (Fig. 1-4) (1). Transcriptions of the *marA* and *soxS* genes are repressed by MarR and SoxR, respectively. In addition, *acrAB* expression is modulated locally by the repressor AcrR (18). In chapter 2, it was described that an *E. coli* strain could acquire high-level organic solvent tolerance via mutations in only the two regulatory genes *marR* and *acrR* (42).

The Lon protease plays an essential role in protein quality control by destroying unfolded proteins (Fig. 3-1) (37). The *E. coli* Lon protease has been shown to be involved in a number of biological processes, such as SOS response, capsule synthesis, DNA methylation, motility, defense against chemicals, methionine biosynthesis, acid tolerance, and nutrient stress (37, 41). The Lon protease causes a rapid turnover of MarA and SoxS (12). Therefore, MarA and SoxS are unstable in the presence of Lon protease. *Ion* mutants increase the expression level of the AcrAB-TolC pump (20). In addition, *Ion* mutants enhance the production of a capsular polysaccharide, colanic acid (Fig. 3-2), and this leads to a mucoid phenotype (35). The enhanced polysaccharide biosynthesis has been thought to cause increased antibiotic resistance via decreased permeability (19). In addition, extracellular polysaccharide is suggested to play an important role in organic solvent tolerance in several bacteria (16, 25, 40, 43). Thus, we expected that overproduction of capsule polysaccharide would contribute to organic solvent tolerance in *E. coli*. The colanic acid biosynthesis requires 19 genes located on the same cluster, denoted *wca* and formerly called *cps* (34). WcaJ is predicted to initiate the synthesis of colanic acid by transferring α -D-glucose-1-phosphate to undecaprenyl phosphate. WcaJ is required for capsule polysaccharide synthesis, and the $\bigtriangleup wcaJ$ mutant forms nonmucoid colonies (Fig. 3-3).

In this study, the organic solvent tolerance of an *E. coli* $\triangle lon$ mutant was examined and it was found that the mutant showed higher organic solvent tolerance than the parent strain. In addition, this study clarified the contribution of the capsular polysaccharide and the AcrAB-TolC pump to organic solvent tolerance in the $\triangle lon$ mutant.



Fig. 3-1 Lon protease

The Lon is hexamer and has ATP binding motif. The protease plays an essential role in protein quality control by destroying unfolded proteins. The *E. coli* Lon protease has been shown to be involved in a number of biological processes.



Fig. 3-2 Chemical structure of the colanic acid monomer Fuc:L-fucose, Gal:D-galactose, GlcA:D-glucuronic acid, Glc:D-glucose, Oac:O-acetyl, Pyr:pyruvate.



Fig. 3-6 Organic solvent tolerances of strain JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* and JA300 *acrR*IS *marR [] lon* mutant Colony-forming efficiency of JA300, JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* and JA300 *acrR*IS *marR [] lon* on LBGMg agar medium in the absence of an organic solvent (A) and in the presence of *n*-hexane (B), and cyclohexane (C).

3-3 Materials and methods

3-3-1 Media, culture conditions and materials

The organisms were grown aerobically at 30°C in LBG medium consisting of 1% Bacto Tryptone (Difco Laboratories, Detroit, MI), 0.5% Bacto Yeast Extract (Difco), 1% NaCl, and 0.1% glucose. The same medium supplemented with 10 mM MgSO₄ (LBGMg medium) (27) was also used. The LBGMg medium was solidified with 1.5% (wt/vol) agar. Ampicillin (50 µg/ml) or kanamycin (50 µg/ml) was added to the medium when necessary. The organic solvents used were of the highest quality available (Wako Pure Chemical Industries, Osaka, Japan). The hydrophobic solvents used and their log P_{ow} values were as follows: *m*-nonane (log P_{ow} , 5.5), *m*-hexane (log P_{ow} , 3.9), cyclohexane (log P_{ow} , 3.4) and *p*-xylene (log P_{ow} , 3.1).

3-3-2 Bacterial strains and plasmids

The *E. coli* K-12 derivatives used to evaluate solvent tolerance are summarized in Table 3-1. Strain BW25113 and its single-gene knockout mutants were supplied by the National Bio-Resource Project (NIG, Mishima, Japan): *E. coli* (8). The plasmid pCP20 was also obtained from NIG, Japan.

Table 3-1 Bacterial strains used

<i>E. coli</i> strain	JW ID ^a	Genotype	Reference		
BW25113		$lacI^{A}$ $rrnB_{\Gamma14}$ $lacZ_{WJ16}$ $hsdR514$ $araBAD_{AH33}$	(34)		
		$rhaBAD_{ m LD78}$			
BW25113	JW0429	Same as BW25113, but with <i>lon</i> ::Km ^R	(34)		
\triangle lon					
BW25113	JW0451	Same as BW25113, but with $acrB$:Km ^R	(34)		
extstyle a crB					
BW25113	JW2032	Same as BW25113, but with <i>wcaJ</i> :Km ^R	(34)		
$ oldsymbol{ wcaJ }$					
BW25113		Same as BW25113, but with $ ightarrow acrB$ and	This study		
$ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \$		<i>lon</i> ::Km ^R			
BW25113		Same as BW25113, but with $ riangledown weak weak and$	This study		
lonwcaJ		<i>lon</i> ::Km ^R			
JA300		${ m F}^{-}$ thr leuB6 trpC1117 thi rpsL20 hsdS	(43)		
JA300 acrRIS marR		Same as JA300, but with $\mathit{acrR}{:}\mathrm{IS5}$ and	(36)		
		<i>marR</i> 109			
JA300 acrRIS marR		Same as JA300, but with <i>lon</i> ::Km ^R , <i>acrR</i> ::IS5 This study			
△lon		and marR109			

^aJW ID of the Keio collection by the National Bio-Resource Project (NIG, Mishima, Japan): *E. coli* (34).

3-3-3 Disruption of *lon*, *acrB*, and *wcaJ* in *E. coli* strains

The plasmid pCP20 shows temperature-sensitive replication and thermal induction of FLP synthesis (10). The Km^R cassettes in BW25113 \triangle acrB and BW25113 \triangle wcaJ were eliminated with pCP20. These strains were transformed with pCP20, and ampicillin-resistant transformants were selected at 30°C, after which several were colony-purified at 43°C and then tested for loss of kanamycin-resistance. Elimination of the Km^R cassette was confirmed by PCR analysis using chromosomal DNA. The combination of primers for BW25113 *acrB* was acrB-S and acrB-AS, and that for BW25113 ∠wcaJ was cpsGwcaJ-S and wcaJ-AS (Table 3-2). The sizes of the amplified products from BW25113 *acrB* and BW25113 *wcaJ* were estimated to be 1.7 kb and 3.1 kb, respectively. Consistent with the expected values, the sizes of the amplified products from the Km^R cassette-eliminated strains BW25113 *acrB* and BW25113 *wcaJ* were 0.2 kb and 1.7 kb, respectively. BW25113 \lon acrB and BW25113 \lon wcaJ were constructed from the Km^R cassette-eliminated mutants BW25113 \triangle acrB and BW25113 \triangle wcaJ, respectively, by P1 transduction of kanamycin-resistance with BW25113 \angle *lon* as the donor. Disruption of the *lon* gene was confirmed by PCR analysis using chromosomal DNA prepared from BW25113 *lon acrB* or BW25113 $\Delta lon \Delta wcaJ$ as the template with the combination of primers lon-S and lon2-AS (Table 3-2). JA300 \angle lon and JA300 acrRIS marR \angle lon mutants were also constructed from JA300 and JA300 acrRIS marR, respectively, by P1 transduction of kanamycin-resistance with BW25113 *lon* as the donor. Disruption of the *lon* gene was confirmed by PCR analysis with primers

lon-S and lon2-AS. Corresponding to the expected values, the sizes of the amplified products from both BW25113 and JA300 were 2.4 kb and those of the products from the Km^R cassette-eliminated strains (BW25113 Δ lon Δ acrB, BW25113 Δ lon Δ wcaJ, JA300 Δ lon, and JA300 acrRIS marR Δ lon) were all approximately 1.5 kb.

3-3-4 Measurement of organic solvent tolerance of E. coli

Cultures of *E. coli* strains in LBGMg medium after 16 h of incubation (optical density at 660 nm $[OD_{660}]$, 4 to 5) were diluted with 0.8% saline by serial 10-fold dilutions. Each suspension was plated on LBGMg agar. The agar surface was overlaid with a 3-mm-thick layer of an organic solvent. The approximate frequency at which the cells formed colonies on the agar was estimated after 48 h of incubation at 25°C.

Table 3.2 Primers used in this study.

Primer	Sequence (5' to 3')	Positions	
D C		61-80 bp upstream of the initiation codon of	
acrb-5	CGUIGAIAAIAAUUAGUAAG	acrB	
		64-83 bp downstream of the stop codon of	
acrB-AS	GIIGGIGGIICAAIIACICC	acrB	
a 10		75-94 bp upstream of the initiation codon of	
cpsGwcaJ-5	AGGUAAIGAAIGUGAAAUUG	cpsG	
was T-A C		46-65bp downstream of the stop codon of	
wcaJ-A5	IGAIGAICACCGIGGCAAIC	wcaJ	
lon-S		22-41bp upstream of the initiation codon of	
	CATCIGATIACCIGGUGGAA	lon	
lon Q. A.C.	COTOCOLOCOTOTTTT	$23\mathchar`-42$ bp downstream of the stop codon of	
10112-Að	UUIGUUAGUUUIGIIIIIAI	lon	

3-3-5 Antibodies against AcrB

Polyclonal antibody against AcrB was raised against synthetic peptides corresponding to regions of AcrB. This antibodies contained an N-terminal cysteine (C+in the peptides shown below) for the conjugation of keyhole limpet hemocyanin. The peptide sequences were as follows: a synthetic peptide for anti-AcrB antibodies, C+KNEDIEHSHTVDHH (corresponding to residues 1036 to 1049). The conjugated peptide was injected into rabbits, and polyclonal antibodies were purified from serum using a Melon gel immunoglobulin G spin purification kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA). This antibodies was used to detect AcrB in the immunoblotting analyses of this study.

3-3-6 Immunoblotting analysis

E. coli cells grown in LBGMg medium to an OD₆₆₀ of about 0.6 were harvested by centrifugation (4,400 × g for 10 min at 4°C), suspended in 10 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 8.0), and then sonicated on ice. Ten micrograms of total cell lysate protein in the supernatant was separated by sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) in a 12.5% separating gel (39). The gel was then electrophoretically transferred to a polyvinylidene difluoride membrane (Immobilon-P; Millipore, Bedford, MA, USA) by the application of 50 V for 30 min in Tris-glycine-methanol buffer (25 mM Tris, 192 mM glycine, 20% [vol/vol] methanol [pH 8.3]). The membrane was blocked overnight at room temperature in Tris-buffered saline (TBS; 0.15% NaCl, 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4) containing 3% gelatin, washed twice in wash buffer (0.05% Tween 20 in TBS), and hybridized at room temperature with anti-AcrB antibody. The membrane was then probed for 1 h with goat anti-rabbit horseradish peroxidase (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). The bands were visualized by use of an alkaline phosphatase color development kit (Bio-Rad). The AcrB expression levels were quantified by gel analysis software UN-SCAN-IT (Silk Scientific, Orem, UT, USA).

3-3-7 Protein content

The protein concentration was determined using the method of Bradford (39) and bovine serum albumin as the standard.

3-3-8 Antibiotic susceptibility

The minimum inhibitory concentrations (MICs) of various antibiotics were determined by a sequential dilution method (6). LBG medium liquid cultures containing different concentrations of antibiotic and freshly grown 10^3 cells of the tested *E. coli* strain were incubated at 37°C for 16 h. The lowest concentration of antibiotic which completely inhibited growth was defined as the MIC (6).

3-4 Results and discussion

3-4-1 Organic solvent tolerances of strain BW25113 and its gene-knockout mutants

The organic solvent tolerances of the BW25113-based $\triangle lon$, $\triangle acrB$, $\triangle wcaJ$, $\triangle lon \triangle acrB$ and $\triangle lon \triangle wcaJ$ mutants were investigated by

measuring the colony-forming efficiency on an agar plate overlaid with pure decane, pure *n*-nonane, pure *n*-octane, pure *n*-heptane, pure *n*-hexane, a mixture of *n*-hexane and cyclohexane (9:1 vol/vol mixture), and pure cyclohexane (Fig. 3-4). All strains formed colonies in all spots on the plates without any solvent and with decane, respectively. The *lon* gene disruptants, BW25113 \triangle lon and BW25113 \triangle lon \triangle acrB, formed mucoid colonies. The capsular polysaccharide synthesis leading to the mucoid colonies formation was partially suppressed by the addition of organic solvents. BW25113 *lon* exhibited 10²⁻ and 10³-fold higher colony-forming efficiencies than the parent strain BW25113 in the presence of *n*-hexane and the solvent mixture, respectively. Extracellular polysaccharide has been reported to be involved in organic solvent tolerance in several bacteria as follows. *Rhodococcus* sp. 33 efficiently degrades benzene and produces a large quantity of extracellular polysaccharide which plays an important role in the benzene tolerance (40). *Rhodococcus rhodochrous* (a mucoidal strain) producing extracellular polysaccharide is resistant to *n*-hexadecane, while its nonmucoidal derivatives are sensitive to this solvent (16). Staphylococcus sp. ZZ1 produced an unusual extracellular capsule in response to toluene, suggesting that the hydrophilic carbohydrate capsule repels organic solvents and prevents them from reaching the cell membrane (43). Acinetobacter *venetianus* Rag-1 increased production of the capsular polymer emulsan in the presence of organic solvents (25). These findings in capsule polysaccharide production in bacteria are indicative of common survival strategies to withstand organic solvent stress. Thus, it was expected that the

overproduction of capsule polysaccharide might improve organic solvent tolerance also in *E. coli*.

To clarify the involvement of the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump and/or capsular polysaccharide in the organic solvent tolerance in BW25113 \triangle lon, the organic solvent tolerances of BW25113 \triangle lon \triangle acrB and BW25113 \triangle lon \triangle wcaJ together with BW25113 \triangle lon \triangle acrB and BW25113 \triangle were examined. Unlike BW25113 \triangle lon, BW25113 \triangle lon \triangle wcaJ formed nonmucoidal colonies. The organic solvent tolerances of BW25113 \triangle wcaJ and BW25113 \triangle lon \triangle wcaJ were similar to those of the BW25113 and BW25113 \triangle lon strains, respectively. Thus, the increased capsular polysaccharide synthesis was not involved in the organic solvent tolerance in the \triangle lon mutant. On the other hand, both BW25113 \triangle lon \triangle acrB and BW25113 \triangle acrB were highly sensitive to organic solvents. Therefore, the efflux pump was shown to significantly contribute to organic solvent tolerance in the *lon* mutant.



Fig. 3-4 The organic solvent tolerances of the BW25113-based D*lon*, D*acrB*, D*wcaJ*, D*lon*D*acrB* and D*lon*D*wcaJ* mutants The colony-forming efficiency on an agar medium in the absence of an organic solvent (A) and in the presence of pure decane (B), pure *n*-nonane (C), pure *n*-octane (D), pure *n*-heptane (E), pure *n*-hexane (F), a mixture of *n*-hexane and cyclohexane (9:1 vol/vol mixture) (G), and pure cyclohexane (H).

3-4-2 Growth of the ∠*lon* mutant in liquid medium in the presence of organic solvents

The cell growth of BW25113 and BW25113 \triangle lon in the LBGMg liquid medium in the presence of a hydrophobic solvent mixture of *n*-hexane and cyclohexane (9:1 vol/vol) and a hydrophilic solvent (ethanol or *n*-butanol) was examined by measuring turbidity (Fig. 3-5). No significant difference in growth was found among these strains in the absence of organic solvents (Fig. 3-5 A). As shown Fig. 3-5 B, the growth of BW25113 was highly suppressed by the addition of the hydrophobic solvent. In contrast, BW25113 \triangle lon was able to grow in the presence of the hydrophobic solvent, although the growth rate and yield of the mutant were partially reduced compared to those in the absence of solvent. On the other hand, the growth of BW25113 / lon was somewhat suppressed compared to the growth of BW25113 in the presence of ethanol and *n*-butanol (Fig. 3-5 C and D). Since hydrophilic solvents are thought to have higher affinity to hydrophilic capsular polysaccharide than hydrophobic solvents, the *lon* mutant might be sensitive to hydrophilic solvents rather than hydrophobic solvents. On the other hand, the AcrAB-TolC pump has been reported to be not involved in the tolerance against short-chain alcohols (2).



Fig. 3-5 Growth of the \triangle lon mutant in liquid medium in the presence of organic solvents Growth of *E. coli* BW25113 and BW25113 \triangle lon in LBGMg liquid medium in the absence of an organic solvent (A) and in the presence of a 10% (vol/vol) *m*-hexane and cyclohexane mixture (9:1 vol/vol) (B), 5% or 10% (vol/vol) ethanol (C) and 1% or 2% (vol/vol) *m*-butanol (D). A 100-ml culture of overnight-grown *E. coli* strain was inoculated into 10 ml of fresh LBGMg liquid medium containing an organic solvent. This two-phase culture was incubated at 30° C. Growth was monitored by measuring turbidity (OD₆₆₀). Values indicate the means of results and standard deviations of results from three independent experiments. Open and filled symbols represent BW25113 and BW25113 \triangle lon, respectively. (A) Symbols: circle, 5% (vol/vol) ethanol; triangle, 10% (vol/vol) ethanol. (B) Symbols: circle, 1% (vol/vol) *m*-butanol; triangle, 2% (vol/vol) *m*-butanol.

3-4-3 Organic solvent tolerances of strain JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* and its ∠*lon* mutant

In chapter 2, JA300 acrRIS marR, which had a nonsense mutation in marR and an insertion of IS5 in acrR, and this mutant displayed high-level organic solvent tolerance was constructed (42). E. coli strains in general cannot form colonies on an agar medium that is overlaid with organic solvents with $\log P_{ow}$ values less than 3.9. However, JA300 acrRIS marR can form colonies on an agar plate overlaid with a mixed solvent of cyclohexane $(\log P_{ow}, 3.4)$ and p-xylene $(\log P_{ow}, 3.1)$. In an attempt to further improve the organic solvent tolerance of JA300 acrRIS marR, we constructed JA300 *acrR*IS marR \triangle lon and compared its organic solvent tolerance with that of JA300 acrRIS marR. The colony-forming efficiencies of these strains were measured on the agar plate overlaid with pure *n*-hexane, pure cyclohexane, and a mixture of cyclohexane (Fig. 3-6). Contrary to our expectation, JA300 acrRIS marR \triangle lon was more susceptible to organic solvents than JA300 *acrR*IS *marR*, although the tolerance level in JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* \angle *lon* was higher than that in JA300 and slightly higher than that in JA300 \triangle lon. Thus, it was found that accumulation of these mutations reduced the solvent tolerance level in *E. coli*.



Fig. 3-6 Organic solvent tolerances of strain JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* and JA300 *acrR*IS *marR*∠*lon* mutant

Colony-forming efficiency of JA300, JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* and JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* \triangle *lon* on LBGMg agar medium in the absence of an organic solvent (A) and in the presence of *n*-hexane (B), and cyclohexane (C).

3-4-4 AcrB levels in *E. coli* \triangle lon mutants

Mutations in *lon* can increase the expression level of the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump (20). The AcrB levels in $\triangle lon$ mutants were investigated by immunoblotting analysis (Fig. 3-7). The AcrB levels in BW25113 $\triangle lon$ and BW25113 $\triangle lon \triangle wcaJ$ were about twofold higher than that in the parent strain BW25113 (Fig. 3-7 A). The AcrB level in BW25113 $\triangle lon$ was similar to that in BW25113 $\triangle lon \triangle wcaJ$, indicating that disruption of the *wcaJ* gene did not affect the expression level of AcrB. JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* significantly increased the expression level of AcrB (Fig. 3-7 B). The AcrB level in JA300 *acrR*IS *marR*, but was about twofold higher than that in strain JA300.





Western blot show the AcrB expression in BW25113 mutants (A) and JA300 mutants (B). Total cell lysate proteins were separated by sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis and probed with polyclonal anti-AcrB antibodies. The expression ratio compared to the AcrB level of the parent strain is shown below each lane. (A) The strains were assigned to the following lanes: BW25113 (lane 1), BW25113 $\angle lon$ (lane 2), and BW25113 $\angle lon \angle wcaJ$ (lane 3). (B) The strains were assigned to the following lanes: JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* (lane 2), and JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* $\angle lon$ (lane 3).

3-4-5 Antibiotic susceptibilities of the \triangle lon mutants

Organic solvent tolerant *E. coli* mutants are known to exhibit resistance to a variety of antibiotics (5, 6). The antibiotic susceptibilities of strains BW25113, BW25113 \triangle lon and BW25113 \triangle lon \triangle wcaJ to each of chloramphenicol, novobiocin, and ofloxacin were investigated by assessing the MICs (Table 3-3). It has previously been shown that *E. coli* strains overexpressing the AcrAB-TolC pump become resistant to these antibiotics (11). It was found that the MICs of strain BW25113 to these antibiotics were as follows: chloramphenicol, 6 µg/ml; novobiocin, 1600 µg/ml; ofloxacin, 0.4 µg/ml. On the other hand, the MICs of BW25113 *lon* and BW25113 *lon* wcaJ to these antibiotics were identical and as follows: chloramphenicol, 12 µg/ml; novobiocin, 1600 µg/ml; ofloxacin, 0.4 µg/ml. Although BW25113/lon and BW25113*lon/wcaJ* exhibited higher chloramphenicol resistance than BW25113, the levels of resistance of these mutants to novobiocin and ofloxacin were similar to those of BW25113. It has been reported that lon mutants of *E. coli* did not produce a significant increase in multidrug resistance, despite their overproduction of the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump (20). These mechanisms are not *yet* fully understood. This study also showed that the \triangle lon mutant did not exhibit а remarkable multidrug resistance-phenotype.

Strain	MIC (µg/ml) for:			
2	CHL	NOV	OFL	
BW25113	6	1600	0.4	
BW25113 <i>Ion</i>	12	1600	0.4	
BW25113⊿lon⊿wcaJ	12	1600	0.4	

Table 3-3 Antibiotic tolerance of organic solvent-tolerant E. coli mutants

Abbreviations: CHL, Chloramphenicol; NOV, Novobiocin; OFL, Ofloxacin.

3-5 Conclusion

The Lon ATP-dependent protease plays a major role in protein quality control and thus contributes to many biological processes in bacteria (37, 41). Although the Lon protease is involved in the regulation of numerous pathways, it is a nonessential enzyme under normal growth conditions in many bacteria (41). E. coli lon mutants become sensitive to DNA-damaging agents and accumulate abnormal proteins. In this study, it was showed that disruption of the *lon* gene was able to improve organic solvent tolerance in E. *coli*. Colonies of *E. coli lon* mutants present a mucoid phenotype, because the *lon* mutants overproduce the capsular polysaccharide due to the stabilization of the transcriptional activator RcsA (35). Extracellular polysaccharide has been reported to be involved in organic solvent tolerance in several bacteria. These correlations between capsule polysaccharide production and organic solvent tolerance are indicative of common survival strategies to withstand organic solvent stress. Therefore, it was assumed that the overproduction of capsule polysaccharide might improve organic solvent tolerance also in E. coli. However, this study showed that the organic solvent tolerance of nonmucoidal BW25113*lon/wcaJ* was similar to that of BW25113*lon*. This suggested that the overproduction of capsular polysaccharide is not involved in the improvement of organic solvent tolerance in E. coli. On the other hand, it has been reported that disruption of the *lon* gene can enhance the expression level of the AcrAB-TolC pump (20). This study also showed that the expression level of AcrB protein in BW25113 *lon* was higher than that in BW25113. To clarify the involvement of the AcrAB-TolC pump in

BW25113 $\label{eq:BW25113}$ was examined. The results showed that BW25113 $\label{eq:BW25113}$ $lon \triangle acrB$ was highly sensitive to organic solvents. Thus the increase in the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump was the main cause of the improved organic solvent tolerance in the $\[\] lon$ mutant. BW25113 $\[\] lon \[\] acrB$ became more sensitive to *n*-nonane than BW25113 *acrB*. Thus, disruption of the *lon* gene seemed to further decrease the solvent tolerance of a mutant lacking AcrAB-TolC pump activity. BW25113 / lon also exhibited higher organic solvent tolerance in the LBGMg liquid medium than the parent strain. However, the *n*-butanol was not improved but partially lowered. Because hydrophilic solvents have higher affinity to hydrophilic capsular polysaccharide than hydrophobic solvents, the *lon* mutant might be sensitive to hydrophilic solvents rather than hydrophobic solvents. On the other hand, it has been reported that the AcrAB-TolC pump is not involved in the tolerance against short-chain alcohols (2).

The JA300 acrRIS marR overexpressing the AcrAB-TolC pump exhibited the highest organic solvent tolerance among about 100 cyclohexane-tolerant *E. coli* mutants (42). Mutations in marR can enhance the expression of MarA, and mutations in *lon* can increase the stability of MarA. Therefore, mutations both in marR and *lon* were assumed to significantly increase the expression level of the AcrAB-TolC pump and concomitantly enhance the organic solvent tolerance level in *E. coli*. In this study, we attempted to construct an *E. coli* mutant with high-level organic solvent tolerance by disrupting the *lon* gene in JA300 *acrR*IS *marR*. However, the resulting strain JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* \triangle *lon* became more sensitive to organic solvents than JA300 *acrR*IS *marR*. In addition, the AcrB expression level in JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* \triangle *lon* was lower than that in JA300 *acrR*IS *marR*. These results suggested that accumulation of these three mutations seemed to decrease the level of AcrAB-TolC pump and thereby reduce the solvent tolerance level in *E. coli*.

It has been reported that *lon* mutants of *E. coli* did not produce a significant increase in multidrug resistance, despite their overproduction of the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump (20). These mechanisms are not yet fully understood. It was also found that the \triangle lon mutant did not show a remarkable multidrug resistance-phenotype. However, this study showed that *lon* disruption can significantly enhance the tolerance of *E. coli* against hydrophobic organic solvents, unlike in the case of multidrug resistance.

3-6 References

- Alekshun MN, L. S. 1997. Regulation of chromosomally mediated multiple antibiotic resistance: the mar regulon. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 41:2067–2075.
- Ankarloo, J., Wikman, S., and Nicholls, I. A. 2010. Escherichia coli mar and acrAB mutants display no tolerance to simple alcohols. Int. J. Mol. Sci 11:1403-1412
- Aono, R. 1998. Improvement of organic solvent tolerance level of Escherichia coli by overexpression of stress-responsive genes. Extremophiles 2:239-248.
- Aono R, K. H., Joblin KN, Horikoshi K. 1994. Effects of organic solvents on growth of Escherichia coli K-12. Biosci Biotechnol Boichem 58:2009–2014.
- Aono, R., M. Kobayashi, H. Nakajima, and H. Kobayashi. 1995.
 A close correlation between organic solvent tolerance and multiple antibiotic resistance systems. Biosci Biotech Biochem 59:213-218.
- Asako, H., H. Nakajima, K. Kobayashi, M. Kobayashi, and R.
 Aono. 1997. Organic solvent tolerance and antibiotic resistance increased by overexpression of marA in *Escherichia coli*. Appl Environ Microbiol 63:1428-1433.
- 7. Atsumi, S., Hanai, T., and Liao, J. C. 2008. Non-fermentative pathways for synthesis of branched-chain higher alcohols as biofuels. Nature **451**:86-89.

- 8. Baba T, A. T., Hasegawa M, Takai Y, Okumura Y, Baba M, Datsenko K, Tomita M, Wanner B, Mori H. 2006. Construction of Escherichia coli K-12 in-frame, single-gene knockout mutants: the Keio collection. Mol Syst Biol 2:2006–2008.
- Barbosa TM, L. S. 2000. Differential expression of over 60 chromosomal genes in Escherichia coli by constitutive expression of MarA. J Bacteriol 182:3467–3474.
- Cherepanov, P. P. a. W., W. 1995. Gene disruption in *Escherichia coli*: Tc^R and Km^R cassettes with the option of Flp-catalyzed excision of the antibiotic-resistance determinant. Gene 158:158.
- Doukyu N, I. K., Watanabe R, Ogino H. 2012. Improvement in organic solvent tolerance by double disruptions of *proV* and *marR* genes in *Escherichia coli*. J Appl Microbiol 112:464–474.
- 12. Griffith, K., Shah, I., and Wolf, R. J. 2004. Proteolytic degradation of *Escherichia coli* transcription activators SoxS and MarA as the mechanism for reversing the induction of the superoxide (SoxRS) and multiple antibiotic resistance (*Mar*) regulons. Mol. Microbiol **51**:1801-1816.
- Heipieper HJ, N. G., Cornelissen S, Meinhardt F. 2007.
 Solvent-tolerant bacteria for biotransformations in two-phase fermentation systems. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 74:961-973.
- Honda, K., Yamashita, S., Nakagawa, H., Sameshima, Y.,
 Omasa, T., Kato, J., and Ohtake, H. 2008. Stabilization of

water-in-oil emulsion by *Rhodococcus opacus* B-4 and its application to biotransformation. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol **78**:767-773.

- Inoue A, H. K. 1989. A Pseudomonas putida thrives in high concentrations of toluene. Nature 338:264–266
- Iwabuchi, N., Sunairi, M., Anzai, H., Nakajima, M., and Harayama, S. 2000. Relationships between colony morphotypes and oil tolerance in *Rhodococcus rhodochrous*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol 66:5073-5077.
- Lennen, R. M. a. P., B. F. 2012. Engineering *Escherichia coli* to synthesize free fatty acids. Trends Biotechnol 30:659-667.
- Ma, D., M. Alberti, C. Lynch, H. Nikaido, and J. E. Hearst. 1996. The local repressor AcrR plays a modulating role in the regulation of *acrAB* genes of *Escherichia coli* by global stress signals. Mol. Microbiol 19:101-112.
- Mah, T. a. O. T., G. 2001. Mechanisms of biofilm resistance to antimicrobial agents. Trends Microbiol 9 34-39
- 20. Nicoloff, H., Perreten, V., McMurry, L. M., and Levy, S. B. 2006. Role for tandem duplication and lon protease in AcrAB-TolCdependent multiple antibiotic resistance (*Mar*) in an *Escherichia coli* mutant without mutations in *marRAB* or *acrRAB*. J. Bacteriol 188:4413-4423.
- 21. Oh, H. Y., Lee, J. O., and Kim, O. B. 2012. Increase of organic solvent tolerance of *Escherichia coli* by the deletion of two
regulator genes, *fadR* and *marR*. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol **96**:4463-4468.

- Okochi, M., K. Kanie, M. Kurimoto, M. Yohda, and H. Honda.
 2008. Overexpression of prefoldin from the hyperthermophilic archaeum *Pyrococcus horikoshii* OT3 endowed *Escherichia coli* with organic solvent tolerance. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol 79:443-449.
- 23. Okochi, M., M. Kurimoto, K. Shimizu, and H. Honda. 2008. Effect of global transcriptional regulators related to carbohydrate metabolism on organic solvent tolerance in *Escherichia coli*. J Biosci Bioeng 105:389-394.
- Okochi, M., M. Kurimoto, K. Shimizu, and H. Honda. 2007. Increase of organic solvent tolerance by overexpression of *manXYZ* in *Escherichia coli*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 73:1394-1399.
- Panilaitis, B., Castro, G. R., Solaiman, D., and Kaplan, D. L.
 2007. Biosynthesis of emulsan biopolymers from agro-based feedstocks. J. Appl. Microbiol 102:531-537.
- 26. Peralta-Yahya, P. P. a. K., J. D. 2010. Advanced biofuel production in microbes. Biotechnol. J. 5:147-162.
- R. Aono, K. A., A. Inoue, K. Horikoshi. 1991. Preparation of organic solvent-tolerant mutants from E. coli K-12. Agric. Biol. Chem. 55:1935–1938.
- 28. Ramos JL, D. E., Gallegos MT, Godoy P, Ramos-Gonzalez MI,

Rojas A, Teran W, Segura A. 2002. Mechanisms of solvent tolerance in gram-negative bacteria. Annu Rev Microbiol 56:743-768.

- 29. Sardessai Y, B. S. 2004. Industrial potential of organic solvent tolerant bacteria. Biotechnol Prog **20**:655-660
- 30. Schmid A, K. A., Mathys RG, Witholt B. 1998. Developments toward large-scale bacterial bioprocesses in the presence of bulk amounts of organic solvents. Extremophiles 2:249–256.
- Segura A, M. L., Fillet S, Krell T, Bernal P, Muñoz-Rojas J, Ramos JL. 2012. Solvent tolerance in gram-negative bacteria. Curr Opin Biotechnol 23:415–421.
- 32. Shimizu, K., S. Hayashi, T. Kako, M. Suzuki, N. Tsukagoshi, N. Doukyu, T. Kobayashi, and H. Honda. 2005. Discovery of *glpC*, an organic solvent tolerance-related gene in *Escherichia coli*, using gene expression profiles from DNA microarrays. Appl Environ Microbiol **71**:1093-1096.
- Sikkema, J., de Bont, J.A.M., and Poolman, B. 1994.
 Interaction of cyclic hydrocarbons with biological membranes.
 J Biol Chem 269:8022–8028.
- Stevenson, G., Andrianopoulos, K., Hobbs, M., and Reeves, P.
 R. 1996. Organization of the *Escherichia coli* K-12 gene cluster responsible for production of the extracellular polysaccharide colanic acid. J. Bacteriol 178:4885-4893.
- 35. Torres-Cabassa, A. S. a. G., S. 1987. Capsule synthesis in

Escherichia coli K-12 is regulated by proteolysis. J. Bacteriol **169**:981-989.

- 36. Torres S, P. A., Castro GR. 2011. Organic solvent adaptation of gram positive bacteria: applications and biotechnological potentials. Biotechnol Adv 29:442–452.
- 37. Tsilibaris, V., Maenhaut-Michel, G., and Van Melderen, L.
 2006. Biological roles of the Lon ATP-dependent protease. Res.
 Microbiol 157:701-713.
- 38. **Tsukagoshi N., A. R.** 2000. Entry into and release of solvents by Escherichia coli in an organic-aqueous two-liquid-phase system and substrate specificity of the AcrAB-TolC solvent-extruding pump. J Bacteriol **182**:4803-4810.
- U, L. 1970. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature 227:680–685.
- 40. Urai, M., Aizawa, T., Anzai, H., Ogihara, J., Iwabuchi, N., Neilan, B., Couperwhite, I., Nakajima, M., and Sunairi, M.
 2006. Structural analysis of an extracellular polysaccharide produced by a benzene tolerant bacterium, *Rhodococcus* sp. 33. Carbohydr. Res 341:616-623.
- Van Melderen, L. a. A., A. 2009. Regulation and quality control by Lon-dependent proteolysis. Res. Microbiol 160:645-651.
- 42. Watanabe, R. a. D., N. 2012. Contributions of mutations in *acrR* and *marR* genes to organic solvent tolerance in

Escherichia coli. AMB Express 2:58.

 43. Zahir Z, S. K., Dennis JJ. 2006. Isolation and characterization of novel organic solventtolerant bacteria. Extremophiles 10:129–138

Chapter 4

Conclusion and future perspective

Organic solvents are generally toxic to organisms including microorganisms. Organic solvents accumulate in and disrupt the cell membrane because they can bind to the cell membrane, thereby affecting its integrity. This results in the inhibition of microbial growth. Microbial cells respond, adapt and develop tolerance to organic solvents by multiple mechanisms. Various mechanisms related to organic solvent tolerance have been reported so far. In these studies, more is known about how cells respond to organic solvents. However, less is known about how to develop tolerant strains. This study focused on the development of organic solvent tolerant E. *coli.* In this final chapter, we are presenting the major observations of our research.

 Cyclohexane tolerant mutant, strain CH7 was isolated from cyclohexane sensitive *E. coli* K-12 strain JA300. CH7 had mutations in regulatory genes both *marR* and *acrR*. The *marR* mutation in CH7 was a nonsense mutation leading to a translation termination codon at the position of E109 (marR109 mutation), and *acrR* was inserted by the insertion element IS5 (*acrR* IS mutatioin). To clarify the involvement of these mutations in organic solvent tolerance, the *marR* and/or *acrR* regions were introduced into the *E. coli* JA300 chromosome and JA300 *acrR*IS, JA300 *marR*, and JA300 *acrR*IS *marR* were constructed. Organic solvent tolerance of the constructed mutants was increased in the following order: JA300 acrRIS < JA300 marR < JA300 acrRIS marR. JA300 acrRIS marR showed similar organic solvent tolerance level as strain CH7 in the presence of the solvents tested. In addition, the expression level of AcrAB-TolC efflux pump in JA300 acrRIS marR was improved compared to that of JA300, and was also similar to those in strain CH7. Furthermore, the intracellular amounts of organic solvents in JA300 acrRIS marR were kept lower than that in JA300, and the level was similar to those in CH7. JA300 Δ acrA acrRIS marR became sensitive to organic solvents. In addition, the tolerance level of JA300 Δ acrA acrRIS marR was similar to that of JA300 Δ acrA. This result indicated that the increase of organic solvent tolerance in JA300 acrRIS marR was caused by overexpression of AcrAB-TolC efflux pump. Therefore, we clarified that only two mutations in regulatory genes in acrR and marR confer high-level organic solvent tolerance on E. coli (Fig. 4-1).

2. We found that mucoid phenotype strain BW25113 △lon exhibited higher organic solvent tolerance than parent strain BW25113 in the presence of a mixture of *n*-hexane and cyclohexane. To clarify the involvement of the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump and capsular polysaccharide in organic solvent tolerance in BW25113 △lon, organic solvent tolerances of BW25113 △lon △acrB (mucoid phenotype) and BW25113 △lon △wcaJ (non-mucoid phenotype) together with BW25113 △acrB and BW25113 △wcaJ were examined. The organic solvent tolerances of BW25113 △wcaJ and BW25113 △lon △wcaJ were similar to those of the BW25113 and

BW25113 \triangle lon strains, respectively. These results indicated that capsular polysaccharide is not involved in organic solvent tolerance. In addition, BW25113 \triangle lon \triangle acrB and BW25113 \triangle acrB were highly sensitive to organic solvents. Thus, it was found that organic solvent tolerance in the \triangle lon mutant depends on the AcrAB-TolC pump (Fig. 4-1). In addition, this study showed that we can construct an organic solvent tolerant strain by introducing the lon mutation.

The use of two phase systems consisting of organic solvent and aqueous medium provides numerous attractive advantages in the bioconversion of various chemicals by whole-cell biocatalysts. The advantages of two-phase systems include not only the production of valuable compounds from hydrophobic raw materials, but also the maintenance of a low concentration of toxic or inhibitory compounds in the aqueous phase and an easier recovery of both product and biocatalyst. However, the catalytic efficiency of whole-cell biocatalysts in two phase systems is often hindered by the toxicity of organic solvents toward the cells. Thus, microorganisms with organic solvent tolerance can be efficient biocatalysts in two phase systems.

This study suggests a new strategy for increasing the organic solvent tolerance level in *E. coli* to improve the usability of the whole-cell biocatalysts in two phase systems employing organic solvents.

139



Fig. 4-1 Improvement of organic solvent tolerance by mutations in *acrR*, *marR*, and *lon* in *E. coli* Gene mutations in *acrR*, *marR*, or *lon* can increase AcrAB-TolC pump. This leads to improve organic solvent tolerance in *E. coli*.

Acknowledgment

I would like to express my gratitude to Professor Noriyuki Doukyu of the Graduate School of Interdisciplinary New Science, Toyo University, for his continuing guidance and encouragement in all phase of this work.

I am also grateful to Research Professor Akira Inoue and Professor Ron Usami of the Graduate School of Interdisciplinary New Science, Toyo University, for their valuable discussion and useful advice.

I am deeply grateful to Professor Masahiro Ito, Associate Professor Tomonori Takashina, Associate Professor Hiroko Higashibata, and Associate Professor Takeshi Miura of the Graduate School of Life Sciences, Toyo University, and Professor Issei Narumi of the Department of Life Science, Toyo University, for their useful discussion and suggestion.

I am also grateful to Professor Toru Maekawa, Research Associate Professor Toru Mizuki of the Graduate School of Interdisciplinary New Science, Toyo University, for their encouragement.

I wish to thank the former and the present students belonging to our laboratory.

Finally, I am deeply grateful to my family; Masaharu, Yuki, and Go for their supports.

This work was supported by Bio-Nano Electronics Research Centre, Toyo University.

Publications

- R. Watanabe, N. Doukyu, Contributions of mutations in *acrR* and *marR* genes to organic solvent tolerance in *Escherichia coli*, AMB Express, 2013, 2, 58
- R. Watanabe, N. Doukyu, Improvement of organic solvent tolerance by disruption of the *lon* gene in *Escherichia coli*, Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering 2014
- N. Doukyu, K. Ishikawa, R. Watanabe, and H. Ogino, Improvement in organic solvent tolerance by double disruptions of *proV* and *marR* genes in *Escherichia coli*, Journal of Applied Microbiology, 2012, 112, 464–474

Conferences

- 渡邉 玲,道久 則之,大腸菌の疎水性有機溶媒耐性向上に関与する遺伝子の解析,日本農芸化学会2011年度関東支部大会(2011)
- 2. 渡邉 玲, 道久 則之, 大腸菌の acrR および marR 遺伝子の変異による疎 水性有機溶媒耐性の向上, 第12回極限環境生物学会(2011)
- 3. **Rei Watanabe**, Noriyuki Doukyu, Improvement of organic solvent-tolerance of *Escherichia coli* by enhanced expression of AcrAB-TolC efflux pump (bacterial nano pump), 9th International Symposium on Bioscience and Nanotechnology (2011)
- Rei Watanabe, Noriyuki Doukyu, Contribution of mutations in *acrR* and *marR* genes to AcrAB-TolC efflux pump-expression and organic solvent-tolerance in *Escherichia coli*, 9th INTERNATIONAL CONGRESS ON EXTREMOPHILES (2012)
- 5. 渡邉 玲, 道久 則之, 大腸菌における *acrR* および *marR* 遺伝子変異によ る有機溶媒耐性の向上, 日本農芸化学会2012年度関東支部大会(2012)
- 渡邉 玲, 道久 則之, 大腸菌の高度有機溶媒耐性化の解明, 第 13 回極限 環境生物学会(2012)
- 7. Rei Watanabe, Noriyuki Doukyu, Contribution of mutations in acrR and marR genes to AcrAB-TolC efflux pump-expression and organic solvent-tolerance in Escherichia coli, BNERC and IJAA Joint International Symposium on Advanced Science and Technology (2012)
- Rei Watanabe, Noriyuki Doukyu, Construction of an *Escherichia coli* mutant with high-level organic solvent tolerance, 11th International Symposium on Bioscience and Nanotechnology (2013)